
 

 
 
 

JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

 JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON AND WALTON COUNTIES 

 

Regular Meeting 

 
August 22, 2023 

1pm 

 

Newton County Water & Sewer Authority - Scott Emmons Water Reclamation Facility at  

10902 Shire Parkway, Social Circle, GA 30025.   

 

 
 AGENDA 

 

1. Call to Order Jerry Silvio  

2. Invocation 

3. Pledge of Allegiance  

4. Approval or Amendment to Agenda 

5. Approval of Minutes 

a. Regular Session Minutes from Regular Meeting on July 25, 2023 

b. Executive Session Minutes from Regular Meeting on July 25, 2023 

 

 

6. Committee Chairman Reports: 

a. Park Management Committee     Bob Hughes   

i. Takeda Update 

ii. Meta/Baymare/Morning Hornet Update 

iii. NCWSA – Industrial Wastewater Treatment Facility  

iv. Security 

v. New Matters 

 

b. Marketing Committee      David Thompson 

i.  Economic Development Representation/Coordination   

     

c. Economic Development Committee     David Thompson  

i. Stanton Springs activity 

ii. Activity in four Counties  

 

d. Finance Committee       Steve Jordan   

i. Financial Report               

ii. Invoices 

   

 

 

  

 

1

p. 3-8 

p. 9-14 

p. 15-20 
p. 21-45 



 

7. Rivian Matters  

a. Grading 

i. Change Orders #8 and 9    Kevin/Ralph Forbes 

ii. Pay Request #11     Kevin/Ralph Forbes 

b. Resolution:  T&H Contracts and Amendments 

c. Resolution:  Insurance  

8. Public Comment – limited to 20 minutes total with a maximum of 2 minutes per speaker 

9. Board Comments 

10. Executive Session - Land Acquisition and Litigation  

11. Adjourn  

2

p. 46-50 
p. 51-53 

p. 54-99 
p. 100-101 



1 

 

 

JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON AND WALTON COUNTIES 

 

July 25, 2023 

1:00 P.M. 

 

Regular Meeting  

Newton County Water & Sewer Authority - Scott Emmons Water Reclamation Facility at 

10902 Shire Parkway, Social Circle, GA 30025. 
 

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan 

County, Newton County and Walton County (the “Authority”) was held on July 25, 2023 at 1pm at the 

Newton County Water & Sewer Authority - Scott Emmons Water Reclamation Facility at 10902 Shire 

Parkway, Social Circle, GA 30025. 

 

 

 

Directors Present:  

Steve Jordan, Jasper County 

Jerry Silvio, Newton County 

Marcello Banes, Newton County 

Bob Hughes, Morgan County 

Ben Riden, Morgan County 

David Thompson, Walton County 

Mike Owens, Walton County 

Don Jernigan, Jasper County 

 

Directors Absent: 

None 

Guests Present: 

Andrea Gray, Attorney 

David Dyer 

Serra Hall 

Shane Short 

Pat Malcom 

Wayne Tamplin 

Kevin Forbes 

Ralph Forbes 

*members of the public and media included on the 

sign-in sheet attached 

 

  

1. Call to Order 

 

Mr. Silvio called the meeting to order at 1:00 pm.   

 

2.  Invocation  

 

Mr. Steve Jordan led the invocation. 

 

3.  Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Mr. Mike Owens led the pledge of allegiance.  

 

4.  Approval or Amendment to Agenda 

 

No amendments were requested.  On a motion duly made by Mr. Marcello Banes, seconded by Mr. Bob 

Hughes and unanimously approved, the Agenda was approved as presented. 

 

3



2 

 

5.  Swearing in of Don Jernigan 

 

     Mr. Silvio administered the oath of office to Mr. Jernigan who accepted his duties and ethical obligations   

     as an Authority member.  A copy of the oath is in the meeting packet.   

 

6.    Approval of Minutes 

 

a. Regular Session Minutes from the Regular Meeting on June 27, 2023:  On a motion duly made by 

Mr. Steve Jordan, seconded by Mr. David Thompson and unanimously approved, the Minutes were 

approved as presented. 

b. Executive Session Minutes from the Regular Meeting on June 27, 2023:  On a motion duly made by 

Mr. Bob Hughes, seconded by Mr. David Thompson and unanimously approved, the Minutes were 

approved as presented. 

  

 

7.    Committee Chairman Reports: 

 

a. Park Management Committee 

 

i. Takeda Updates – Mr. Hughes reported that the quarterly update in the meeting packet is a 

good summary of the current status of what is happening in the park and it will be posted 

on the website.  He noted that a land sale matter with Takeda would be discussed later in 

the meeting.   

ii. Meta/Baymare/Morning Hornet Updates- Mr. Hughes reported that Meta will start its  

community grant program application process after Labor Day.  The applications are open 

for about 6 weeks.  They are submitted to Katie Comer.  

iii. Security – no new updates 

iv. New Matters- None 

 

b.  Marketing Committee 

 

Mr. Thompson stated that there is nothing new to report this month.   

 

c. Economic Development Committee 

 

Mr. Thompson stated that the Stanton Springs activity continues.  Ms. Hall had no new updates from 

Newton County.  Shane Short reported for Walton County that he is working with several companies on 

industrial sites in Monroe.  Mr. Hughes reported for Morgan County that there is a lot of development on 

the commercial side, a hotelier is looking in the area and the Safari Conservation Park is well underway.  

Mr. Dyler had no new updates from Jasper County.   

 

d. Finance Committee 

 

i. Financial Report 

 

Mr. Steve Jordan provided the financial report for June and reviewed the current account balances and 

monthly expenditures that were included in the meeting packet along with the June financials.  An updated 

package was sent yesterday.   

 

4



3 

 

ii. Invoices 

 

 9 regular invoices and a packet of legal invoices were presented for payment including the following: 

1. $10,000.00 from Cornerstone for public relations services 

2. $84,431.58 from Thomas and Hutton for Rivian-related work (reimbursable through grant) 

3. $3,045.00 from Thomas and Hutton for Rivian-related work (reimbursable through grant) 

4. $43,474 from Thomas and Hutton for Rivian-related work (reimbursable through grant) 

5. $29.96 from Snapping Shoals electric 

6. $64.31 from Snapping Shoals electric 

7. $6,465 from Andrea P. Gray, LLC for general legal services 

8. $2,000 from Allen Smith Consulting for Rivian-related grant admin work 

9. $180.00 from Allen Smith Consulting for Takeda-related grant admin work  

10. Legal fees for litigation 

o $64,723.80 to Smith Gambrell and Russell   

o $2,835.00 to Andrea P. Gray, LLC 

 

On a motion duly made by Mr. David Thompson seconded by Mr. Mike Owens and unanimously approved, 

the invoices were approved for payment.  Mr. Banes asked for clarification on the source of funds for 

attorney’s fees.  Mr. Jordan clarified that they are currently paid by the JDA but there is a possibility they 

could be reimbursed which is why they are paid separately.   

 

iii.  Budget Update 

 

Ms. Malcom stated that there is an updated budget in the packet from the prior fiscal year (July 1, 2022 – 

June 30, 2023).  This is the JDA’s routine each July to make sure the budget accurately reflects actual 

expenses and revenues.  Mr. Tamplin recited the state law which requires that governments have balanced 

budgets and therefore must amend the budget as needed.  Mr. Thompson asked for clarification that they 

were just reallocating some line items.  Ms. Malcom confirmed that they are shifting five line items.  Mr. 

Jordan stated that the litigation expenses exceeded the budget and as a result the PILOT money collected 

was not able to be disbursed.  On a motion duly made by Mr. David Thompson, seconded by Mr. Bob 

Hughes and unanimously approved, the amended budget was approved as presented.   

 

 

8.  Rivian Updates 

 

     a.  Thomas and Hutton Contract 

 

Ms. Gray reported that she is still working with the State and Thomas and Hutton on the contract and asked 

that it be tabled until August.  On a motion duly made by Mr. Bob Hughes, seconded by Mr. Ben Riden and 

unanimously approved, the matter was tabled to the August Authority meeting.   

 

    b.  Grading 

 

          i. Change Order #7 

 

Mr. Kevin Forbes presented Change Order #7 in the amount of $922,877.34 for additional line items for a 

temporary water line, mucking a dry out area, and additional stone bedding.  Ms. Gray confirmed that prior 

to providing any change orders or pay requests to the Authority, she obtains written approval from the State.  

5



4 

 

On a motion duly made by Mr. David Thompson, seconded by Mr. Bob Hughes and unanimously 

approved, the Change Order was approved.  

 

          ii. Pay Request #10 

 

Mr. Kevin Forbes presented Pay Request #10 in the amount of $6,539,788.77 for Plateau and $43,474.00 

for Thomas and Hutton’s soil testing work through Terracon.  He noted that there is a typo in the pay 

request cover letter, but the numbers he recited are correct.  On a motion duly made by Mr. Bob Hughes, 

seconded by Mr. Ben Riden and unanimously approved, Pay Request #10 was approved for payment.   

 

    c. Resolution re Construction Management Contract  

 

Ms. Gray presented the Resolution.  The State requested the JDA approve a contract with Pellicano which 

will provide construction management, coordination and reporting services to the State.  The contract will 

be fully paid through the REBA grant.  The company is out of Albany and a scope and cost estimate is 

attached to the Resolution.  Mr. Riden and Mr. Thompson discussed the scope.  Ms. Gray clarified that they 

would be the State and JDA’s eyes and ears.  They discussed Mike Martin, hired by Walton County, who 

oversees work on the site but does not issue approvals.  On a motion duly made by Mr. David Thompson, 

seconded by Mr. Mike Owens and unanimously approved, the Authority passed the Resolution authorizing 

a contract with Pellicano consistent with the scope and fee estimate attached.   

 

9. Resolution re Takeda sale of 2.53 acres to Morning Hornet 

 

Ms. Gray presented the Resolution and explained that Takeda is selling 2.53 acres to Morning Hornet which 

is needed for utility purposes.  The JDA is the fee simple owner of the Takeda property and therefore its 

approval is required.  The proceeds of the sale go to Takeda because of the legal structure (leasehold).  Mr. 

Owens asked for clarification of its location which is on the north side of Shire parkway across from the 

Bioscience training center.  On a motion duly made by Mr. Steve Jordan, seconded by Mr. Marcello Banes 

and unanimously approved, the Resolution was approved.   

 

10. Quarterly Report Q2 2023 

 

Ms. Gray read the quarterly report which is included in the meeting packet and will be posted on the 

website upon approval.  Discussion occurred regarding the $4.51 mill distributed based on Takeda’s 

payments.  It increases each year based on the abatement structure.  Mr. Riden thanked Walton County for 

doing a good job in reporting, collecting and distributing tax revenues from Takeda.  Mr. Thompson noted 

what a good community partner Meta has been as well.  On a motion duly made by Mr. Bob Hughes, 

seconded by Mr. Ben Riden and unanimously approved, the Quarterly Report was approved.   

 

11. Public Comment 

 

Mr. Jerry Silvio stated:  We value public opinion and are appreciative of those of you who took the time to 

attend today.  All of our meetings are open to the public.  Each speaker must state their name and address. 

Each speaker has 2 minutes. This is not a question and answer session and no response from the JDA is 

required.  We will take your comments into consideration and may reach out to you individually to discuss 

them further.  The total time for comments will be limited to approximately 20 minutes.   

 

1. Ray Wertz- Mr. Wertz lives on Darel Drive.  He reported that there is evidence of drug activity in the 

area as a meth pipe was found in his yard.  He expressed ongoing concerns about the safety of his family.  

6



5 

 

He questioned how “no trespassing” signs are being enforced.  Cameras were removed.  Who is monitoring 

the site?  He states that he watches people being dropped off and walking to the site.  He claims that none of 

this activity started until construction started.   

 

2. James Evans- Mr. Evans lives on Darel Drive.  He requested that the two remaining abandoned 

homes/structures be removed as they are derelict.  They are both on Hwy 278.  Something needs to be done.  

He stated that he has waited for Rivian to contact him for 18 months.  He would like to talk to Rivian.   

 

3. Matt Bray – Mr. Bray also commented on the two remaining houses and asked they be removed.  He 

stated that they are vandalized and could attract crime.  He also discussed construction access and noted that 

people continue to drive around the barricades at Old Mill and Davis Academy.  He claims mud is on the 

road. 

 

4. Joellen Artz – Ms. Artz asked for a copy of the Rivian site plan.  Is it on a website somewhere?  She 

stated that the land disturbance is intentional but she wants to see the location of the rail, battery area.  Ms. 

Gray responded that it is not.  She stated that Rivian stated that it will only disturb 50% of the property, but 

she read in the legal documents that Rivian can provide the rest of the land to other companies.  She stated 

that the Authority lost the court decision on the personal property taxes and that her attorney says that the 

bond decision was remanded to the trial court.   

 

5. Max Troy – Mr. Troy lives in Gwinnett County.  He is inquiring about subcontracting opportunities for 

this development.  He represents a number of Georgia subcontractors.  There is a lack of information on 

large projects and he wants to know if there is a system in place where they can participate in the bidding 

process.  Nothing on the relevant websites provide information about where they can go or who they can 

contact.   

 

 

12.  Board Comments- 

 

Mr. Riden commented that Ms. Artz contacted him about her questions regarding greenspace and he is not 

sure of where it is in the legal documents. 

 

Mr. Hughes stated that as he understands it, the Rivian site plan has not been finalized yet and that is why it 

is not on a website.  Once Rivian selects a general contractor there will be more information on 

subcontractor opportunities.  Ms. Artz asked how we can do grading without a site plan.  Mr. Hughes 

responded that the JDA is only required to grade the overall pad on which buildings will be placed.   

 

13. Executive Session – Land acquisition, Litigation 

 

On a motion duly made by Mr. Bob Hughes seconded by Mr. Ben Riden and unanimously approved, the 

Authority moved into executive session to discuss land acquisition and litigation matters at 1:56 pm.   

 

On a motion duly made by Mr. David Thompson, seconded by Mr. Marcello Banes and unanimously 

approved, the Authority moved out of Executive Session at 2:38 pm. 

 

 

 

 

 

7



6 

 

14.  Adjourn 

 

On a motion duly made by Mr. Steve Jordan, seconded by Mr. Marcello Banes, and unanimously approved, 

the meeting was adjourned at 2:39 pm. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chairman 

Attest: 

 

 

 

Secretary 

 

 

8



NEWTON COUNTY WATER & SEWERAGE AUTHORITY 

ASEWRF Phase 2A  

Industrial Wastewater Treatment Facility 
JDA Development Guidelines Responses 
8-17-2023 

 

1. Building Site Size: 

Parcel size is approximately 7 acres. 

 

2. Building Setbacks: 

Front Setback off Shire Parkway – 50 feet 

East Side Setback – 50 feet 

West Side Setback – 20 feet 

Rear Setback – 20 feet 

 

3. Building Materials: 

The exterior walls of the building will be constructed of a metal composite material designed to 

produce a flat appearance. The panels will be non-absorbent and water insensitive to prevent 

rot, swell, corrosion, and delamination.  The bottom three (3) feet of the building front and sides 

will be covered with a veneer of stone. The interior framework of the building will be 

constructed of steel including the trusses. The purpose for utilizing metal and steel is due to 

constructability of an indoor wastewater treatment facility.  Expansion may occur vertically; 

therefore, stick-built A-frame trusses are prohibitive.  The nature of wastewater treatment may 

contribute to a corrosive atmosphere, which standard building materials are not suited.   

 

4. Building Roofs: 

The roof will be constructed of standing seam metal of a light gray color. 

 

5. Building Elevations: 

All sides of the building will begin at the same elevation. The finished floor elevation is 

approximately 720.5 feet MSL.  The bottom three (3) feet of the front and sides will be covered 

with a veneer of stone. The rear and remainder of the front and sides will be metal designed to 

produce a flat appearance.  All down spouts will be coated to match the wall color.  The wall 

color will be a dark forest green. 

 

6. HVAC Units and Miscellaneous Equipment: 

Equipment visible from the road will be screened with fencing and/or landscaping. 

 

7. Lighting: 

Pole mounted exterior lighting will be LED commercial areal lights located around the exterior of 

the pavement facing inward towards the building. Lighting will be 4000K, bronze aluminum 

housing, activated with photocell on 25 foot pole. Illumination will not exceed 1.0 foot candle in 

parking areas and 0.5 foot candle in driveways. Building mounted exterior lighting will be LED 

9



commercial wall lights surface mounted around the exterior sides of the building. Lighting will be 

4000K, bronze aluminum housing, activated with photocell and designed to direct light down 

and forward. 

 

8. Utilities: 

Reinforcing the nature of an industrial wastewater treatment facility, utility structures and 

associated appurtenances may be above and underground on the site; however, all utilities will 

be behind fencing and/or the treatment building.  There will be below and above ground storage 

tanks on the site.  Above ground piping will be minimal and may only be exposed at the storage 

tank or building.  Underground utilities may include potable water, sanitary sewer, industrial 

wastewater, reuse water, power, telecommunication, fiber, and a 1 million-gallon reuse storage 

tank.  Above ground utilities may include 0.5 million-gallon equalization tank, lime addition 

system and tank, site lighting, and reuse distribution high service pumps. 

 

9. Parking: 

Parking areas will adhere to the setback requirements in the guidelines.  Concrete curb and 

gutter will be utilized in parking areas.  Parking space requirements will adhere to Newton 

County code. 

 

10. Landscaping: 

Landscaping will adhere to requirements in the guidelines.  NCWSA is working with UGA student 

landscape teams to develop a plan for trees and shrubbery at its facilities within Stanton Springs.  

This plan will be implemented after the completion of the industrial wastewater treatment 

facility.  Until the plan is implemented, Tif Tuf Bermuda grass will be installed around the facility.  

Tif Tuf is a drought and wear tolerant species of Bermuda grass. 

 

11. Signs: 

Signage will adhere to the requirements in the guidelines.  At this time, no definitive signage has 

been identified for the facility.  Once signage has been selected, NCWSA will share with the JDA 

for comment. 

 

12. Temporary Buildings: 

No temporary buildings will be left on the site after construction. Building(s) will be permanent 

in nature in accordance with proper operation and maintenance of an industrial wastewater 

treatment facility. 

 

13. Fencing: 

Fencing located at the front building setback will be architectural in design similar to existing 

fencing within Stanton Springs. Side and rear fencing may be black, PVC coated chain-link fence. 

 

14. Storage and Loading Areas: 

No loading doors will be facing Shire Parkway. Except during construction, materials are not 

anticipated to be stored outside of a building. 

 

10



15. LEED: 

The architectural design of building(s) may include technological advancements to be considered 

sustainable. It is not the intention of NCWSA to qualify building(s) LEED certified. However, 

ENVISION certification may be more feasible than LEED for this project due to budget 

constraints. 

 

16. Pedestrian Walkways: 

Walkways along Shire Parkway will remain or improved as a result of this project. 

11



 

 

 

 

 

12



 

 

 

 

 

13



 

14



Joint Dev. Auth of Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton Counties

Balance Sheet Prev Year Comparison
As of July 31, 2023

Jul 31, 23 Jul 31, 22 $ Change % Change

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

Checking - Truist 34,195.40 71,599.01 -37,403.61 -52.24%

Bk of Madison-MMA 2,777,533.02 2,727,414.59 50,118.43 1.84%

Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 85,170.21 571,869.35 -486,699.14 -85.11%

Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-MMA 643,673.33 3,657,892.10 -3,014,218.77 -82.4%

Bk of Madison-JMNW Disbursment 151,544.87 12,962,767.36 -12,811,222.49 -98.83%

Bank of Madison-Tax Revenue 0.61 0.61 0.00 0.0%

EDGE Grant Acct 90.25 90.25 0.00 0.0%

Bond Purchase Acct 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.0%

Total Checking/Savings 3,692,208.69 19,991,634.27 -16,299,425.58 -81.53%

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable 39,290.86 0.00 39,290.86 100.0%

Total Accounts Receivable 39,290.86 0.00 39,290.86 100.0%

Total Current Assets 3,731,499.55 19,991,634.27 -16,260,134.72 -81.34%
TOTAL ASSETS 3,731,499.55 19,991,634.27 -16,260,134.72 -81.34%

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable 2,780,175.44 0.00 2,780,175.44 100.0%

Total Accounts Payable 2,780,175.44 0.00 2,780,175.44 100.0%

Other Current Liabilities

Retainage Payable 3,467,124.52 0.00 3,467,124.52 100.0%

Total Other Current Liabilities 3,467,124.52 0.00 3,467,124.52 100.0%

Total Current Liabilities 6,247,299.96 0.00 6,247,299.96 100.0%

Total Liabilities 6,247,299.96 0.00 6,247,299.96 100.0%

Equity

Restricted Fund Balance 1,500,000.00 1,500,000.00 0.00 0.0%

Fund Balance -7,748,751.85 36,736,443.11 -44,485,194.96 -121.09%

Net Income 3,732,951.44 -18,244,808.84 21,977,760.28 120.46%

Total Equity -2,515,800.41 19,991,634.27 -22,507,434.68 -112.58%
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 3,731,499.55 19,991,634.27 -16,260,134.72 -81.34%

 Page 1 of 615



Joint Dev. Auth of Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton Counties

Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
July 2023 through June 2024

Jul '23 - Jun 24 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Grant income

2022 REBA Grant 3,862,698.79 18,000,000.00 -14,137,301.21 21.46%

Total Grant income 3,862,698.79 18,000,000.00 -14,137,301.21 21.46%

PILOT Payments 0.00 3,000,000.00 -3,000,000.00 0.0%

Total Income 3,862,698.79 21,000,000.00 -17,137,301.21 18.39%

Expense

Insurance expense 0.00 6,000.00 -6,000.00 0.0%

Miscellaneous expense 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%

Owners Assoc fees 0.00 100.00 -100.00 0.0%

Professional

Accounting expense 0.00 35,000.00 -35,000.00 0.0%

Audit expense 0.00 12,000.00 -12,000.00 0.0%

Consulting 180.00 200.00 -20.00 90.0%

Engineering expense

Engineering exp 0.00 20,000.00 -20,000.00 0.0%

Total Engineering expense 0.00 20,000.00 -20,000.00 0.0%

Legal expense 70,798.80 80,000.00 -9,201.20 88.5%

Litigation expense 0.00 1,000,000.00 -1,000,000.00 0.0%

Total Professional 70,978.80 1,147,200.00 -1,076,221.20 6.19%

Utilities 94.04 1,100.00 -1,005.96 8.55%

Total Expense 71,072.84 1,155,400.00 -1,084,327.16 6.15%

Net Ordinary Income 3,791,625.95 19,844,600.00 -16,052,974.05 19.11%

 Page 2 of 616



Jul '23 - Jun 24 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

Interest income

Interest income - banks 0.00 10,000.00 -10,000.00 0.0%

Interest income - NCWSA debt 0.00 388,454.00 -388,454.00 0.0%

Interest income - Other 8,970.90 0.00 8,970.90 100.0%

Total Interest income 8,970.90 398,454.00 -389,483.10 2.25%

Total Other Income 8,970.90 398,454.00 -389,483.10 2.25%

Other Expense

Capital Outlay

Engineering - General Consult 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 0.0%

Stanton Springs North

Stanton Sp North - Construction 0.00 18,000,000.00 -18,000,000.00 0.0%

Rivian - Expenses 12,000.00 0.00 12,000.00 100.0%

Rivian - Reimbursable Expenses 55,645.41 0.00 55,645.41 100.0%

Stanton Springs North - Other 0.00 2,238,054.00 -2,238,054.00 0.0%

Total Stanton Springs North 67,645.41 20,238,054.00 -20,170,408.59 0.33%

Total Capital Outlay 67,645.41 20,243,054.00 -20,175,408.59 0.33%

Total Other Expense 67,645.41 20,243,054.00 -20,175,408.59 0.33%

Net Other Income -58,674.51 -19,844,600.00 19,785,925.49 0.3%
Net Income 3,732,951.44 0.00 3,732,951.44 100.0%

 Page 3 of 617



Joint Dev. Auth of Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton Counties

General Ledger
As of July 31, 2023

Type Date Num Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

Checking - Truist 40,934.44

Check 07/05/2023 Draft Snapping Shoals Acct 4283669 Utilities 29.96 40,904.48

Check 07/05/2023 Draft Snapping Shoals Acct 4283727 Utilities 64.08 40,840.40

Bill Pmt -Check 07/19/2023 1082 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Accounts Payable 6,465.00 34,375.40

Check 07/25/2023 1083 Allen Smith Consulting Inc Inv 13586 Monitoring EDGE grant Consulting 180.00 34,195.40

Total Checking - Truist 0.00 6,739.04 34,195.40

Bk of Madison-MMA 2,770,465.32

Deposit 07/31/2023 Deposit Bank of Madison July interest Interest income 7,067.70 2,777,533.02

Total Bk of Madison-MMA 7,067.70 0.00 2,777,533.02

Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 28,299.11

Deposit 07/11/2023 Trnsf Bank of Madison Trnsf from Cap Proj MMA to Ck Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-MMA 250,000.00 278,299.11

Bill Pmt -Check 07/12/2023 Wire Thomas & Hutton Accounts Payable 26,488.44 251,810.67

Check 07/25/2023 1296 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Inv 91 Rivian Legal expense 915.00 250,895.67

Check 07/25/2023 1297 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Inv 5 Legal expense 360.00 250,535.67

Check 07/25/2023 1298 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Inv 5 Legal expense 1,230.00 249,305.67

Check 07/25/2023 1299 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1124108 & 1120153 Legal expense 29,196.00 220,109.67

Check 07/25/2023 1300 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1124103 & 1119467 Legal expense 21,833.50 198,276.17

Check 07/25/2023 1301 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1119079 Legal expense 6,023.80 192,252.37

Check 07/25/2023 1302 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1124094 & 1119466 Legal expense 7,670.50 184,581.87

Bill Pmt -Check 07/25/2023 1303 Thomas & Hutton Accounts Payable 84,431.58 100,150.29

Check 07/25/2023 1294 Cornerstone Government Affairs, Inc. Inv JDA-072023 Rivian - Expenses 10,000.00 90,150.29

Check 07/25/2023 1295 Allen Smith Consulting Inc Inv 13585 Rivian - Expenses 2,000.00 88,150.29

Bill Pmt -Check 07/25/2023 1304 Thomas & Hutton Accounts Payable 3,040.00 85,110.29

Deposit 07/26/2023 Trnsf Bank of Madison Trnsf from REBA #1 to Cap Proj Ck 
for Thomas & Hutton pymt wired

Bk of Madison-JMNW REBA #1 55,645.41 140,755.70

Check 07/26/2023 Wire Thomas & Hutton Partial duplicate pymt on Inv 
02391863 Project Adventure that will 
be reimb from T & H

Rivian - Reimbursable Expenses 55,645.41 85,110.29

Deposit 07/31/2023 Deposit Bank of Madison July interest Interest income 59.92 85,170.21

Total Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 305,705.33 248,834.23 85,170.21

Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-MMA 891,830.05

Deposit 07/11/2023 Trnsf Bank of Madison Trnsf from Cap Proj MMA to Ck Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 250,000.00 641,830.05

Deposit 07/31/2023 Deposit Bank of Madison July interest Interest income 1,843.28 643,673.33

Total Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-MMA 1,843.28 250,000.00 643,673.33

Bk of Madison-JMNW Disbursment 151,544.87

Total Bk of Madison-JMNW Disbursment 151,544.87

Bk of Madison-JMNW REBA #1 0.00

Deposit 07/21/2023 Deposit Georgia Housing and Fin Authority DD #13 Plateau & Thomas & Hutton 2022 REBA Grant 3,862,698.79 3,862,698.79

Deposit 07/26/2023 Trnsf Bank of Madison Trnsf from REBA #1 to Cap Proj Ck 
for Thomas & Hutton pymt wired

Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 55,645.41 3,807,053.38

Check 07/26/2023 Wire Plateau Excavation Inc App #8 wire Accounts Payable 3,807,053.38 0.00

Total Bk of Madison-JMNW REBA #1 3,862,698.79 3,862,698.79 0.00

Bank of Madison-Tax Revenue 0.61

Total Bank of Madison-Tax Revenue 0.61

EDGE Grant Acct 90.25

Total EDGE Grant Acct 90.25

Bond Purchase Acct 1.00

 Page 4 of 618



Type Date Num Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

Total Bond Purchase Acct 1.00

Accounts Receivable 39,290.86

Total Accounts Receivable 39,290.86

Accounts Payable -6,704,083.84

Bill Pmt -Check 07/12/2023 Wire Thomas & Hutton Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 26,488.44 -6,677,595.40

Bill 07/19/2023 Inv 91 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Legal expense 3,570.00 -6,681,165.40

Bill Pmt -Check 07/19/2023 1082 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Checking - Truist 6,465.00 -6,674,700.40

Bill Pmt -Check 07/25/2023 1303 Thomas & Hutton Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 84,431.58 -6,590,268.82

Bill Pmt -Check 07/25/2023 1304 Thomas & Hutton Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 3,040.00 -6,587,228.82

Check 07/26/2023 Wire Plateau Excavation Inc App #8 wire Bk of Madison-JMNW REBA #1 3,807,053.38 -2,780,175.44

Total Accounts Payable 3,927,478.40 3,570.00 -2,780,175.44

Retainage Payable -3,467,124.52

Total Retainage Payable -3,467,124.52

Restricted Fund Balance -1,500,000.00

Total Restricted Fund Balance -1,500,000.00

Fund Balance 7,748,751.85

Total Fund Balance 7,748,751.85

Grant income 0.00

2022 REBA Grant 0.00

Deposit 07/21/2023 Deposit Georgia Housing and Fin Authority DD #13 Plateau & Thomas & Hutton Bk of Madison-JMNW REBA #1 3,862,698.79 -3,862,698.79

Total 2022 REBA Grant 0.00 3,862,698.79 -3,862,698.79

Total Grant income 0.00 3,862,698.79 -3,862,698.79

Professional 0.00

Consulting 0.00

Check 07/25/2023 1083 Allen Smith Consulting Inc Inv 13586 Monitoring EDGE grant Checking - Truist 180.00 180.00

Total Consulting 180.00 0.00 180.00

Legal expense 0.00

Bill 07/19/2023 Inv 91 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Rest of Inv 91 general representation Accounts Payable 3,570.00 3,570.00

Check 07/25/2023 1296 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Inv 91 Rivian Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 915.00 4,485.00

Check 07/25/2023 1297 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Inv 5 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 360.00 4,845.00

Check 07/25/2023 1298 Andrea P. Gray, LLC Inv 5 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 1,230.00 6,075.00

Check 07/25/2023 1299 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1124108 & 1120153 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 29,196.00 35,271.00

Check 07/25/2023 1300 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1124103 & 1119467 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 21,833.50 57,104.50

Check 07/25/2023 1301 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1119079 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 6,023.80 63,128.30

Check 07/25/2023 1302 Smith Gambrell & Russell LLP Inv 1124094 & 1119466 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 7,670.50 70,798.80

Total Legal expense 70,798.80 0.00 70,798.80

Total Professional 70,978.80 0.00 70,978.80

Utilities 0.00

Check 07/05/2023 Draft Snapping Shoals Acct 4283669 Checking - Truist 29.96 29.96

Check 07/05/2023 Draft Snapping Shoals Acct 4283727 Checking - Truist 64.08 94.04

Total Utilities 94.04 0.00 94.04

Interest income 0.00

Deposit 07/31/2023 Deposit Bank of Madison July interest Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 59.92 -59.92

Deposit 07/31/2023 Deposit Bank of Madison July interest Bk of Madison-MMA 7,067.70 -7,127.62

Deposit 07/31/2023 Deposit Bank of Madison July interest Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-MMA 1,843.28 -8,970.90

Total Interest income 0.00 8,970.90 -8,970.90

Capital Outlay 0.00

Stanton Springs North 0.00

Rivian - Expenses 0.00

Check 07/25/2023 1294 Cornerstone Government Affairs, Inc. Inv JDA-072023 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 10,000.00 10,000.00

 Page 5 of 619



Type Date Num Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

Check 07/25/2023 1295 Allen Smith Consulting Inc Inv 13585 Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 2,000.00 12,000.00

Total Rivian - Expenses 12,000.00 0.00 12,000.00

Rivian - Reimbursable Expenses 0.00

Check 07/26/2023 Wire Thomas & Hutton Partial duplicate pymt on Inv 
02391863 Project Adventure that will 
be reimb from T & H

Bk of Madison-Cap Proj-Checking 55,645.41 55,645.41

Total Rivian - Reimbursable Expenses 55,645.41 0.00 55,645.41

Total Stanton Springs North 67,645.41 0.00 67,645.41

Total Capital Outlay 67,645.41 0.00 67,645.41

TOTAL 8,243,511.75 8,243,511.75 0.00

 Page 6 of 620



Page 1 of 1

Cornerstone Government Affairs
800 Maine Avenue, SW, 7th Floor

Washington, DC  20024

202-448-9565

accounting@cgagroup.com

 

INVOICE
BILL TO
Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton, & Walton Counties
300 E Church Street
Monroe, GA  30655

INVOICE JDA-082023
DATE 08/01/2023
TERMS Net 30
DUE DATE 08/31/2023

DESCRIPTON AND SERVICE PERIOD AMOUNT

Please remit for Public Affairs services rendered in August 2023. 10,000.00

Please reach out to Ryan Gottshall at 301-956-5854 or 
accounting@cgagroup.com should you have any questions/concerns regarding 
this invoice.

BALANCE DUE $10,000.00

21



Law Office of Andrea Gray, LLC
300 E. Church Street
Monroe, Georgia 30655
United States

INVOICE
Invoice # 92

Date: 08/17/2023
Due On: 09/16/2023

Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton and Walton Counties

00007-Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton and
Walton Counties

General Legal Representation

Type Date Notes Quantity Rate Discount Total

Service 07/24/2023 Conference with JDA and State site teams
regarding CW Matthews access and
construction status; Conference with Ben
Riden and Serra Hall regarding truck route;
Prepare for JDA meeting and orientation
meeting with Don Jernigan;
Correspondence with Kevin Forbes
regarding JDA meeting prep;
Correspondence with Andrew Capezzuto
regarding approval of change order and
pay request; Correspondence with Andrew
Capezzuto regarding Pellicano;
Correspondence with John Shakarjian
regarding team meeting at Stanton Springs

2.50 $150.00 - $375.00

Service 07/25/2023 Prepare for, travel and attend orientation
meeting with Don Jernigan; Prepare for and
attend JDA regular meeting; Conference
with Cornerstone regarding media inquiry;
Correspondence with Mike Hopkins
regarding meeting coordination;
Correspondence with John Shakarjian
regarding consultant meeting and
conference with Ralph Forbes regarding
same; Conferences with Serra Hall and
Ben Riden regarding truck route

6.60 $150.00 - $990.00

Service 07/26/2023 Process executed documents from JDA
meeting; Receipt and review of
correspondence from Jerry Silvio regarding
site review; Correspondence with Rivian

2.10 $150.00 - $315.00

Page 1 of 5

22



legal regarding due diligence meeting
coordination; Conference with Serra Hall
regarding project management and GDOT
coordination; Conference with Steve Jordan
regarding wires and payments out;
Conferences with Bob Hughes regarding
mega site inquiry

Service 07/27/2023 Correspondence with Kevin Forbes
regarding invoice processing; Upload
recording of meeting to website; process
documents executed at JDA meeting;
Receipt and review of final resolution of
truck traffic route and GDOT coordination

1.00 $150.00 - $150.00

Service 07/28/2023 Conference with Serra Hall regarding prep
for meetings next week with Rivian and site
status updates related to house removal
and truck traffic; Review summary of same
from Kevin Forbes; Conference with
Andrew Capezzuto regarding same;
Coordination regarding signed pay request
and change order; Complete processing of
JDA meeting docs

1.20 $150.00 - $180.00

Service 07/31/2023 Coordination with Keeley Garrett regarding
grant funds and draws; Conference with
State and JDA teams regarding site status;
Process pay app 10 and change order 7

1.20 $150.00 - $180.00

Service 08/01/2023 Coordination regarding meeting with Rivian
team regarding environmental work;
Correspondence with Keeley Garrett and
Steve Jordan regarding REBA funds and
draws

1.20 $150.00 - $180.00

Service 08/02/2023 Prepare for, travel and attend meeting with
Rivian, JDA and State site teams regarding
construction and permitting updates;
Preparation of correspondence to JDA with
legal updates

6.50 $150.00 - $975.00

Expense 08/02/2023 Reimbursable expenses: Cater Lunch for
Rivian Meeting - Jimmy Johns - $441.40

1.00 $441.40 100.0% $0.00

Expense 08/02/2023 Reimbursable expenses: Cater Breakfast
for Rivian Meeting - Bread and Butter-
$151.90

1.00 $151.90 100.0% $0.00

Service 08/03/2023 Correspondence with Keeley Garrett
regarding information needed for grant
draw

0.30 $150.00 - $45.00

Service 08/04/2023 Conference and initial meeting with
Pellicano and State site teams regarding
project status; Conference with Serra Hall
regarding project status; Correspondence

2.50 $150.00 - $375.00

Invoice # 92 - 08/17/2023

Page 2 of 5

23



with Keeley Garrett regarding draw
documentation; Conference with Ben
Sheidler regarding media inquiries and
responses

Service 08/07/2023 Review and revise Pellicano contract and
preparation of correspondence to Andrew
Capezzuto regarding same

1.30 $150.00 - $195.00

Service 08/07/2023 Coordination with Keeley Garrett, Ralph
Forbes, Jerry Silvio and Bob Hughes
regarding execution of necessary
documents for REBA grant draw; Process
site entry form for water line installation;
Receipt and review of correspondence
regarding Morgan County/GDOT
coordination; Coordination with Rivian team
regarding due diligence matters

1.50 $150.00 - $225.00

Service 08/08/2023 Conference with JDA and State teams
regarding site status; Conference with Ben
Riden regarding pending litigation matters

0.90 $150.00 - $135.00

Service 08/09/2023 Conference with Serra Hall regarding
project updates; Response to
correspondence from Ben Sheidler
regarding media inquiry; Conference with
State and Rivian teams regarding site visit;
Conference with Bob Hughes regarding
POA matters; Conference with Andrew
Capezzuto regarding Pellicano contract
revisions

2.80 $150.00 - $420.00

Service 08/11/2023 Conference with Andrew Capezzuto and
Stephen Dew regarding contract;
Conference and correspondence with
Andrew Capezzuto, Ralph Forbes and
Kevin Forbes regarding grading updates
and change orders; Correspondence with
Mike Hopkins regarding meeting to review
plans; Correspondence with Marie Gordon
regarding media inquiry

1.90 $150.00 - $285.00

Service 08/14/2023 Video conference with Mike Hopkins, Bob
Hughes and Jerry Silvio regarding water
recycling building; Draft Agenda and
correspondence with Jerry Silvio regarding
same; Conference with Serra Hall
regarding JDA meeting prep and Rivian
meeting prep; Conference with State and
JDA site teams regarding status;
Conferences with Debra Smith and Andrew
Capezzuto regarding REBA grant budget
updates; Coordination with Tyler
Cunningham regarding status of title policy;
Coordination with Andrew Capezzuto
regarding finalization of Pellicano contract

4.00 $150.00 - $600.00

Invoice # 92 - 08/17/2023

Page 3 of 5

24



Service 08/15/2023 Draft Regular and Executive Session
Minutes from July JDA meeting;
Conference with Jerry Silvio and Shane
Short regarding JDA meeting prep;
Conference with site team regarding work
status; Correspondence with Keeley Garrett
regarding grant draws and reimbursement
status; Finalize Pellicano contract and
circulate for signature; Conference with
JDA, State and Rivian site teams regarding
progress; Assemble information for meeting
packet; Review correspondence regarding
media inquiry

3.80 $150.00 - $570.00

Service 08/16/2023 Conferences and coordination with
Cornerstone and State PR team regarding
press release and media inquiries;
Conference with Steve Jordan regarding
legal invoices; Correspondence with Keeley
regarding grant processing status; Respond
to correspondence from Ben Riden;
Coordination regarding Pellicano contract;
Review addendum to Terracon scope of
work; Coordination with Tyler Cunningham
and Chris Baldwin regarding surveys and
legals; Conference with Andrew Capezzuto
and correspondence regarding site-related
discussions; Correspondence with
Tamaron Houston and Hillary Edgar
regarding JDA approval of land transaction;
Prepare for Authority meeting

3.80 $150.00 - $570.00

Quantity Subtotal 45.1

Line Item Discount Subtotal -$593.30

Quantity Total 45.1

Total $6,765.00

Detailed Statement of Account

Current Invoice

Invoice Number Due On Amount Due Payments Received Balance Due

92 09/16/2023 $6,765.00 $0.00 $6,765.00

Outstanding Balance $6,765.00

Total Amount Outstanding $6,765.00

Invoice # 92 - 08/17/2023

Page 4 of 5

25



Please make all amounts payable to: Law Office of Andrea Gray, LLC

Please pay within 30 days.

Invoice # 92 - 08/17/2023

Page 5 of 5

26



JDA Legal Fees 8/22/2023

Andrea P. Gray, LLC

Matter Amount Time Period
Bond Appeal 645.00$                                    7/20/2023 - 8/17/2023
General Legal Representation 6,765.00$                                 7/20/2023 - 8/17/2023
Zoning Litigation 525.00$                                    7/20/2023 - 8/17/2023

TOTAL 7,935.00$                                

Smith, Gambrell and Russell

Matter Amount Time Period

Bond Appeal 20,114.00$                              Jul-23
Zoning Litigation 15,173.00$                              Jul-23
Clean Water Act Claims 2,812.50$                                 Jul-23
Stream Buffer Variance Appeal 5,457.00$                                 Jul-23

TOTAL 43,556.50$                              
Less Rivian Reimbursement $39,290.86

Total Due 4,265.64$                                

Holland & Knight

Matter
Bond Appeal 42,942.65$                              Jun-23

TOTAL 55,143.29$                              

27



28



29



                        

Invoice for Professional Services

Allen-Smith Consulting, Inc.
405 Nunnally Farm Road, Monroe, GA 30655

 (770) 207-0142

Invoice #
13616

Grant # 

Code Phase Fee
% 

Complete
Fee Earned 

To Date
Previously 

Billed
Current 
Billing

201 10,000.00$  100% 10,000.00$  10,000.00$   -$            
202 25,000.00$  55% 13,750.00$  12,500.00$   1,250.00$   
203 25,000.00$  55% 13,750.00$  12,000.00$   1,750.00$   

60,000.00$    37,500.00$     34,500.00$     3,000.00$      

3,000.00$      
Code

  
Date

 
Services 

  
Period

y 
Billed

 
Billing

205 -$          0.00
-$            

3,000.00$      

Invoice Date
August 15, 2023

BILL TO
Joint Development Authority - Jasper,
Morgan, Newton, & Walton 
P. O. Box 826
Monroe, GA 30655
Attn: Andrea Gray

JDA-728-22
Job Description:
Job #:

andrea@andreagray.com

JDA Jasper Morgan Newton Walton 2022 REBA #1 - Project Adventure

Total Hourly Charges Due this Invoice
Hourly Rate as per our contract is $125.00

 Total Current Invoice

22pd-MCR-5-5072
Grant Administration - 304
Grant administration services provided for this period, for the Joint Development Authority's 2022 REBA
grant  in accordance with our contract. 

Phase                                                                            

Phase

General & Special Conditions Compliance
Project Financial Management
Grant Award Process

Totals To Date:
 Administration Fees (original contract & Addendum #1) Due This Invoice

Page 1 of 130

mailto:andrea@andreagray.com
mailto:andrea@andreagray.com
mailto:andrea@andreagray.com
mailto:andrea@andreagray.com


 
 
 

 
August 15, 2023 

 
 
Ms. Andrea Gray 
JDA – Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County 
300 East Church Street 
Monroe, GA 30655 
 

Re: JDA – Project Adventure 
 Covington, Georgia 
 Invoice # 243970 
 T&H Job # J–26900.0001 
 Breakdown of Expenditures 
 June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023 

 
Dear Ms. Gray: 
 

Please find attached invoices for engineering services performed during the month of July.  
The projects, descriptions, and costs are itemized as follows:  
 
 General Consulting 

A010 – Meetings / Calls (Budgets; Training Center Coordination Calls; Meetings; Weekly 
Calls; GTC Coordination Across Site) 

 Consultant (Forbes) 15 hours @   $ 280.00 =  $ 4,200.00 
 Project Manager V (Chambless) 5.5 hours @  $ 230.00 =  $ 1,265.00  
 Project Manager IV (S. Greene) 1 hour @  $ 210.00 =  $ 210.00  
 Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 10 hours @  $ 185.00 =  $ 1,850.00 
        $ 7,525.00 
  
 A010 – Legal (Calls on Lawsuits; Exhibits; Plans; Schedules; Site Coordination) 
 Consultant (Forbes) 5 hours @   $ 280.00 =  $ 1,400.00 
 Project Manager V (Chambless) 5 hours @  $ 230.00 =  $ 1,150.00  
 Project Manager IV (S. Greene) 6 hours @  $ 210.00 =  $ 1,260.00 
 Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 7 hours @  $ 185.00 =  $ 1,295.00 
        $ 5,105.00 
 
 A010 Total:       $ 12,630.00 
 

J010 – Adventure Coordination (All hands calls; Dirt nerd calls on revised construction 
plans; sharing drone imagery/nutrient plan, etc.) 

 Consultant (Forbes) 6 hours @  $ 280.00 =  $ 1,680.00 
 Project Manager IV (S. Greene) 1 hours @  $ 210.00 =  $ 210.00
 Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 7 hours @  $ 185.00 =  $ 1,295.00 
 Engineering Tech IV (Greene) 5 hour @   $ 160.00 =  $ 800.00 
        $ 3,985.00 
      
 
 
 
 
 

31



Ms. Andrea Gray 
JDA – Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County 
August 15, 2023 
Page 2 

B510 – Rough Grading Plans (Final revisions to ponds due to rock; consult with Rivian; revise 
plans/calculations; relocate ponds 5 and 6; correct pond 7; finalizing water plans) 
Project Manager V (Chambless) 0.5 hours @ $ 230.00 = $ 115.00
Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 2 hours @ $ 185.00 = $ 370.00 
Engineering Tech IV (Greene) 31 hours @ $ 160.00 = $ 4,960.00 
Designer I (Webb) 1.5 hours @ $ 125.00 = $ 187.50 

$ 5,632.50 

D610 – EPD Over 50 Acres (Nutrient Management Plan) 
Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 3 hours @ $ 185.00 = $ 555.00 

$ 555.00 
F610 – NPDES (Updated NOI questions to EPD) 
Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 6.5 hours @ $ 185.00 = $ 1,202.50 
Engineering Tech IV (Greene) 3 hours @ $ 160.00 = $ 480.00 

$ 1,682.50 

A720 – Construction Management – Pad Grading/ Pay App; CO Request Process; Rock 
Blasting Solution; Schedules; Well Abandonment Coordination; French Drain estimates, 
Settlement Plate) 
Consultant (Forbes) 7 hours @ $ 280.00 = $ 1,960.00 
Project Manager V (Chambless) 3 hours @ $ 230.00 = $ 690.00 
Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 42 hours @ $ 185.00 = $ 7,770.00 
Engineering Tech IV (Greene) 4 hours @ $ 160.00 = $ 640.00 

$ 11,060.00 

B720 – Construction Meetings – Pad Grading (Meeting with Plateau/weekly calls/on–site 
meetings on erosion control, field walk with Terracon/meetings with EPD, Meeting with 
Rivian personnel) 
Consultant (Forbes) 4 hours @ $ 280.00 = $ 1,120.00 
Project Manager V (Chambless) 4 hours @ $ 230.00 = $ 920.00
Project Manager IV (S. Greene) 39 hours @ $ 210.00 = $ 8,190.00 
Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 21.5 hours @ $ 185.00 = $ 3,977.50 

$ 14,207.50 

9999 – Reimbursables – Printing / UPS / Mileage      $ 682.60 

TOTAL INVOICE FOR J – 26900.0001       $ 50,435.10 

Please review the attached invoice and call our office with any questions or concerns. 

Sincerely, 

THOMAS & HUTTON 

Ralph L. Forbes, P.E. 

RLF/fmb 
Enclosures 

32



Invoice

JDA - Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County
Attn: Steve Jordan
PO Box 89
Monroe, GA  30655

August 15, 2023
Project No: 26900.0001
Invoice No: 243970

Remit to: P.O. Box 936164
Atlanta, GA  31193-6164

Phone: 912-234-5300

JDA - Project Adventure Covington, GA

Professional Services from June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023

Phase / Task: Description of work

Contract
/Budget
Amount

Previously
Invoiced

Percent
Complete/

Billed to Date
Current
Invoice

Balance to
Completion

0010 General Consulting

A010 Meetings/Calls $200,000.00 $182,072.50 $194,702.50 $12,630.00 $5,297.50

B010 Schedules & GANT Charts $24,000.00 $23,665.00 $23,665.00 $0.00 $335.00

C010 Rezoning $17,701.25 $17,701.25 $17,701.25 $0.00 $0.00

D010 Phase 1 ESA $4,025.00 $4,025.00 $4,025.00 $0.00 $0.00

E010 (Preliminary only) Geotechnical $28,750.00 $28,750.00 $28,750.00 $0.00 $0.00

F010 Wetland Permit Drawings $35,707.50 $35,707.50 $35,707.50 $0.00 $0.00

G010 Wetland Delineation $40,250.00 $40,250.00 $40,250.00 $0.00 $0.00
H010 Phase 1 Cultural Resources Investigation $293,915.74 $293,915.74 $293,915.74 $0.00 $0.00

I010 GDOT Coordination $60,000.00 $56,027.50 $56,027.50 $0.00 $3,972.50

J010 Adventure Coordination $125,000.00 $113,885.00 $117,870.00 $3,985.00 $7,130.00

K010 Water & Sewer Coordination $16,000.00 $15,470.00 $15,470.00 $0.00 $530.00

L010 Natural Gas Coordination $500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500.00

M010 Power Coordination $1,000.00 $450.00 $450.00 $0.00 $550.00

N010 DRI $6,130.00 $6,130.00 $6,130.00 $0.00 $0.00
O010 Wetland Jurisdictional Request / Permit $130,000.00 $127,873.95 $127,873.95 $0.00 $2,126.05

P010 Threatened & Endangered Species $2,875.00 $2,875.00 $2,875.00 $0.00 $0.00

Q010 Buffer Variance Drawings $18,427.50 $18,427.50 $18,427.50 $0.00 $0.00

R010 Buffer Variance Request $61,000.00 $60,509.57 $60,509.57 $0.00 $490.43

0350 Geotechnical Report
A350 Asbestos Survey / TCLP-Pb Testing and 

Reports $35,937.50 $35,937.50 100% $0.00 $0.00

B350 Limited Site Investigation (LSI) $11,356.25 $11,356.25 100% $0.00 $0.00

C350 LSI - Unity Gas Station $12,075.00 $12,075.00 100% $0.00 $0.00

D350 UST Removal / Closure Permitting $82,910.98 $82,910.98 100% $0.00 $0.00

0465 ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey

B465 ALTA Survey $1,280.00 $1,280.00 $1,280.00 $0.00 $0.00

0510 Engineering Design

A510 Site Plan $7,947.50 $7,947.50 $7,947.50 $0.00 $0.00

Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 33



Project 24397026900.0001 JDA - Project Adventure Covington, GA Invoice

Phase / Task: Description of work

Contract
/Budget
Amount

Previously
Invoiced

Percent
Complete/

Billed to Date
Current
Invoice

Balance to
Completion

B510 Rough Grading Plans $190,000.00 $178,786.50 $184,419.00 $5,632.50 $5,581.00

C510 Clearing & Erosion Control Design $95,000.00 $94,305.00 $94,305.00 $0.00 $695.00

D510 Rail Spur Design $1,000.00 $505.00 $505.00 $0.00 $495.00

0610 Permits

B610 Walton Co - Rough Grading $3,500.00 $2,910.00 $2,910.00 $0.00 $590.00

D610 EPD - Over 50 Acres $15,000.00 $13,097.50 $13,652.50 $555.00 $1,347.50

E610 GSWCC - Rough Grading $7,560.00 $7,560.00 $7,560.00 $0.00 $0.00

F610 NPDES $10,000.00 $6,415.00 $8,097.50 $1,682.50 $1,902.50

0720 Construction Observation

A720 Construction Management - Pad Grading $75,000.00 $48,205.00 $59,265.00 $11,060.00 $15,735.00

B720 Construction Meetings - Pad Grading $100,000.00 $82,217.50 $96,425.00 $14,207.50 $3,575.00

C720 Record Drawings - Pad Grading $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

D720 Pad Turnover Assistance $18,000.00 $4,870.00 $4,870.00 $0.00 $13,130.00

9999 Reimbursable Expenses $10,000.00 $7,376.99 $8,059.59 $682.60 $1,940.41

Current Invoice Sub Totals: $1,751,849.22 $1,625,491.23 $50,435.10 $75,922.89

Current Invoice Due $50,435.10

 
Coordinator: Ralph Forbes

Page 2Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 34



Project 24397026900.0001 JDA - Project Adventure Covington, GA Invoice

Billing Details:
Professional Personnel: Hours Rate Total
0010 / A010 Meetings/Calls

Consultant 20.00 $280.00 $5,600.00

Project Manager V 10.50 $230.00 $2,415.00

Project Manager IV 7.00 $210.00 $1,470.00

Project Manager II 17.00 $185.00 $3,145.00

Totals 54.50 $12,630.00

0010 / J010 Adventure Coordination

Consultant 6.00 $280.00 $1,680.00

Project Manager IV 1.00 $210.00 $210.00

Project Manager II 7.00 $185.00 $1,295.00

Engineering Technician IV 5.00 $160.00 $800.00

Totals 19.00 $3,985.00

0510 / B510 Rough Grading Plans

Project Manager V .50 $230.00 $115.00

Project Manager II 2.00 $185.00 $370.00

Designer I 1.50 $125.00 $187.50

Engineering Technician IV 31.00 $160.00 $4,960.00

Totals 35.00 $5,632.50

0610 / D610 EPD - Over 50 Acres

Project Manager II 3.00 $185.00 $555.00

0610 / F610 NPDES

Project Manager II 6.50 $185.00 $1,202.50

Engineering Technician IV 3.00 $160.00 $480.00

Totals 9.50 $1,682.50

0720 / A720 Construction Management - Pad Grading

Consultant 7.00 $280.00 $1,960.00

Project Manager V 3.00 $230.00 $690.00

Project Manager II 42.00 $185.00 $7,770.00

Engineering Technician IV 4.00 $160.00 $640.00

Totals 56.00 $11,060.00

0720 / B720 Construction Meetings - Pad Grading

Consultant 4.00 $280.00 $1,120.00

Project Manager V 4.00 $230.00 $920.00

Project Manager IV 39.00 $210.00 $8,190.00

Project Manager II 21.50 $185.00 $3,977.50

Totals 68.50 $14,207.50

9999 Reimbursable Expenses

Page 3Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 35



Project 24397026900.0001 JDA - Project Adventure Covington, GA Invoice

Mileage\Parking\Tolls
7/11/2023 $157.20

Materials
7/25/2023 $9.54

Reproductions
7/29/2023 $515.86

Total Reimbursables $682.60

Page 4Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 36



 

 

 

 

August 15, 2023 

 

 

Ms. Andrea Gray 

JDA – Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County 

300 East Church Street 

Monroe, GA 30655 

 

Re: JDA – Rivian 90 Acres Plus Pad 

 Covington, Georgia 

 Invoice #243971 

 T&H Job # J–26900.0006 

 Breakdown of Expenditures 

 June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023 

 

Dear Ms. Gray: 

 

Please find attached invoices for engineering services performed during the month of July.  

The projects, descriptions, and costs are itemized as follows:  

 

 General Consulting 

A010 – Meetings / Calls (Calls with Rivian on new pond scope, limits, budgets, schedule)  

 Consultant (Forbes) 7 hours @   $ 280.00 =  $ 1,960.00 

 Project Manager IV (S. Greene) 3 hours @   $ 210.00 =  $ 630.00

 Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 13 hours @  $ 185.00 =  $ 2,405.00 

        $ 4,995.00 

     

A510 – Site Plan / Calculate Limits (Cut/fill analysis, budget analysis to determine elevation 

and limits of pad) 

 Consultant (Forbes) 8 hours @   $ 280.00 =  $ 2,240.00 

 Project Manager IV (S. Greene) 14 hours @   $ 210.00 =  $ 2,940.00 

 Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 24 hours @  $ 185.00 =  $ 4,440.00 

 Engineering Tech IV (Greene) 23 hours @   $ 160.00 =  $ 3,680.00 

 Designer I (McClellan) 13 hours @  $ 125.00 =  $ 1,625.00 

        $ 14,925.00 

 

B510 – Rough Grading Plans  

 Engineering Tech IV (Greene) 10 hours @  $ 160.00 =  $ 1,600.00  

        $ 1,600.00 

 

A0810 – Pricing with Plateau (Coordinating quantities, scope with Plateau to get pricing) 

 Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 5 hours @  $ 185.00 =  $ 925.00 

 Designer I (Webb) 4 hours @  $ 125.00 =  $ 500.00 

        $ 1,425.00 

 

 TOTAL INVOICE FOR J – 26900.0006       $ 22,945.00  

 

 

37



 

Ms. Andrea Gray 

JDA – Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County 

August 15, 2023 

Page 2 
 

 

 Please review the attached invoice and call our office with any questions or concerns. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

THOMAS & HUTTON 

 

 

 

 

Ralph L. Forbes, P.E. 

 

 

RLF/fmb 

 

Enclosures 

38



Invoice

JDA - Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County
Attn: Andrea Gray
300 E. Church Street
Monroe, GA  30655

August 15, 2023
Project No: 26900.0006
Invoice No: 243971

Remit to: P.O. Box 936164
Atlanta, GA  31193-6164

Phone: 912-234-5300

JDA - Rivian - 90 Acres Plus Pad

Professional Services from June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023

Phase / Task: Description of work

Contract
/Budget
Amount

Previously
Invoiced

Percent
Complete/

Billed to Date
Current
Invoice

Balance to
Completion

0010 General Consulting $20,000.00 $0.00 $4,995.00 $4,995.00 $15,005.00

0510 Engineering Design

A510 Site Plan / Calculate Limits $15,000.00 $0.00 $14,925.00 $14,925.00 $75.00

B510 Rough Grading Plans $60,000.00 $0.00 $1,600.00 $1,600.00 $58,400.00

C510 Soil Erosion Control Plans $35,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $35,000.00

0610 Permits $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

0810 Construction Management Services

A810 Pricing with Plateau $10,000.00 $0.00 $1,425.00 $1,425.00 $8,575.00

B810 Construction Management $25,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

C810 Construction Meetings $15,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

D810 Pad Turnover $5,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $5,000.00

9999 Reimbursable Expenses $2,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

Current Invoice Sub Totals: $197,500.00 $0.00 $22,945.00 $174,555.00

Current Invoice Due $22,945.00

 
Coordinator: Ralph Forbes

Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 39



Project 24397126900.0006 JDA - Rivian - 90 Acres Plus Pad Invoice

Billing Details:
Professional Personnel: Hours Rate Total
0010 General Consulting

Consultant 7.00 $280.00 $1,960.00

Project Manager IV 3.00 $210.00 $630.00

Project Manager II 13.00 $185.00 $2,405.00

Totals 23.00 $4,995.00

0510 / A510 Site Plan / Calculate Limits

Consultant 8.00 $280.00 $2,240.00

Project Manager IV 14.00 $210.00 $2,940.00

Project Manager II 24.00 $185.00 $4,440.00

Designer I 13.00 $125.00 $1,625.00

Engineering Technician IV 23.00 $160.00 $3,680.00

Totals 82.00 $14,925.00

0510 / B510 Rough Grading Plans

Engineering Technician IV 10.00 $160.00 $1,600.00

0810 / A810 Pricing with Plateau

Project Manager II 5.00 $185.00 $925.00

Designer I 4.00 $125.00 $500.00

Totals 9.00 $1,425.00

Page 2Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 40



August 21, 2023 

Ms. Andrea Gray 
JDA – Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County 
300 East Church Street 
Monroe, GA 30655 

Re: JDA – Rivian 
Special Inspection and Materials Testing 
Invoice # 243952 
T&H Job # J–26900.0003 
Breakdown of Expenditures 
June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023 

Dear Andrea: 

Please find attached invoices for engineering services performed during the month of July. 
The projects, descriptions, and costs are itemized as follows:  

General Consulting 

A010 – Miscellaneous Consulting (NPDES, Settlement Plats, Coordination of Testing, 
Sampling Location, Corrective Action Plans, Nutrient Plan for Sediment Removal ) 
Consultant (Forbes) 4 hours @ $ 280.00 = $ 1,120.00 
Project Manager II (K. Forbes) 12.5 hours @ $ 185.00 = $ 2,312.50 
Project Manager IV (S. Greene) 3 hours @ $ 210.00 = $ 630.00 
Designer I (McClellan) 35 hours @ $ 125.00 = $ 4,375.00 

$ 8,437.50 

A725 – Soils / Utility Backfill 
Terracon Consultants, Inc.   $ 26,586.56 

B725 – Special Inspections / Oversight 
Terracon Consultants, Inc.   $ 5,182.19 

D725 – NPDES 
Terracon Consultants, Inc. $ 10,723.75 

E725 – Nutrient Management Plan 
Terracon Consultants, Inc.   $ 25,119.48 

TOTAL INVOICE FOR J – 26900.0003 $ 76,049.48 

Please review the attached invoice and call our office with any questions or concerns. 

Sincerely, 

THOMAS & HUTTON 

Ralph L. Forbes, P.E. 
RLF/fmb 
Enclosures 

41



Invoice

JDA - Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County
Attn: Andrea Gray
300 E. Church Street
Monroe, GA  30655

August 21, 2023
Project No: 26900.0003
Invoice No: 243952

Remit to: P.O. Box 936164
Atlanta, GA  31193-6164

Phone: 912-234-5300

JDA - Rivian - Special Inspection and Material Testing

Professional Services from June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023

Phase / Task: Description of work

Contract
/Budget
Amount

Previously
Invoiced

Percent
Complete/

Billed to Date
Current
Invoice

Balance to
Completion

0010 General Consulting

A010 Miscellaneous Consulting $40,000.00 $22,840.00 $31,277.50 $8,437.50 $8,722.50

0725 Geotechnical Construction Services

A725 Soils / Utility Backfill $392,000.00 $185,359.88 $211,946.44 $26,586.56 $180,053.56
B725 Special Inspection Oversight,  Project 

Management / Coordination, Report Review $68,000.00 $17,645.33 $22,827.52 $5,182.19 $45,172.48

C725 Asbestos Abatement, Monitoring, Visual 
Clearance $83,000.00 $83,000.00 100% $0.00 $0.00

D725 National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Services $70,000.00 $51,290.00 $62,013.75 $10,723.75 $7,986.25

E725 Nutrient Management Plan $30,000.00 $0.00 $25,119.48 $25,119.48 $4,880.52

Current Invoice Sub Totals: $683,000.00 $360,135.21 $76,049.48 $246,815.31

Current Invoice Due $76,049.48

Past Due Invoices

Number Date Now Due

242610 7/17/2023 $43,474.00
Past Due $43,474.00

Total Now Due $119,523.48

Coordinator: Ralph Forbes

Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 42



Project 24395226900.0003 JDA - Rivian - Special Inspection and Ma Invoice

Billing Details:
Professional Personnel: Hours Rate Total
0010 / A010 Miscellaneous Consulting

Consultant 4.00 $280.00 $1,120.00

Project Manager IV 3.00 $210.00 $630.00

Project Manager II 12.50 $185.00 $2,312.50

Designer I 35.00 $125.00 $4,375.00

Totals 54.50 $8,437.50

0725 / A725 Soils / Utility Backfill Consultant-Geotechnical

7/29/2023 Terracon Consultants Inc

$26,586.56

0725 / B725 Special Inspection Oversight,  Project M
Consultant-Geotechnical

7/29/2023 Terracon Consultants Inc

$5,182.19

0725 / D725 National Pollutant Discharge Elimination Consultant-Geotechnical

7/29/2023 Terracon Consultants Inc

$10,723.75

0725 / E725 Nutrient Management Plan Consultant-Geotechnical

7/29/2023 Terracon Consultants Inc

$25,119.48

Page 2Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 43



 

 

 

 

August 15, 2023 

 

 

Ms. Andrea Gray 

JDA – Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County 

300 East Church Street 

Monroe, GA 30655 

 

Re: JDA – Rivian 90 Acres Plus Pad 

 Covington, Georgia 

 Invoice #243951 

 T&H Job # J–26900.0005 

 Breakdown of Expenditures 

 June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023 

 

Dear Ms. Gray: 

 

Please find attached invoices for engineering services performed during the month of July.  

The projects, descriptions, and costs are itemized as follows:  

 

 General Consulting 

A010 – Cultural Resources Mitigation Documentation 

 Brockington and Associates, Inc.       $ 11,634.07 

 

 TOTAL INVOICE FOR J – 26900.0005       $ 11,634.07  

 

 Please review the attached invoice and call our office with any questions or concerns. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

THOMAS & HUTTON 

 

 

 

 

Ralph L. Forbes, P.E. 

 

 

RLF/kts 

 

Enclosures 

44



Invoice

JDA - Jasper, Morgan, Newton & Walton County
Attn: Andrea Gray
300 E. Church Street
Monroe, GA  30655

August 15, 2023
Project No: 26900.0005
Invoice No: 243951

Remit to: P.O. Box 936164
Atlanta, GA  31193-6164

Phone: 912-234-5300

JDA - Project Adventure - Cultural Resources Mitigation

Professional Services from June 25, 2023 to July 29, 2023

Phase / Task: Description of work

Contract
/Budget
Amount

Previously
Invoiced

Percent
Complete/

Billed to Date
Current
Invoice

Balance to
Completion

0010 General Consulting
A010 Cultural Resources Mitigation Documentation $77,560.00 $0.00 $11,634.07 $11,634.07 $65,925.93

Current Invoice Sub Totals: $77,560.00 $0.00 $11,634.07 $65,925.93

Current Invoice Due $11,634.07

 
Coordinator: Ralph Forbes

Payment of this invoice constitutes acceptance of contract. A Service Charge of 1.5% (18% per annum) is charged on all accounts after 45 days. A 3% service charge will be added to all credit card 
transactions. **When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from your account or to process the 
payment as a check transaction** 45



STANTON SPRING NORTH ROUGH GRADING 
PHASE 1A AND PHASE 1B  

STANTON SPRINGS, GEORGIA 
 
 

CHANGE ORDER NO. 8 
J–26900.0001 

 
 
PROJECT:  Stanton Spring North Rough Grade Phase 1A and Phase 1B     
 
PROJECT NO.:  J – 26900.0001     DATE:   8.17.2023   
 
OWNER:  Joint Development Authority         
 
CONTRACTOR:  Plateau Excavation, Inc.         
 
The Contractor is hereby requested to comply with the following changes from the contract plans and 
specifications: 
 

This Change Order #8 will release scope of work as outlined in Exhibit “A”.    

As part of this project scope of work, Contractor shall give preference to local businesses and use its 
best efforts to utilize subcontractors and materials which are local to Jasper, Morgan, Newton, and 
Walton Counties.  

Additionally, Contractor will be solely responsible for the safety of its equipment and employees.  

 
This document shall become an amendment to contract and all provisions of the contract will apply 
hereto. 
 
 
ACCEPTED  BY:         DATE:     
    Contractor  

 
RECOMMENDED BY:         DATE:         08.17.2023  
                       Thomas & Hutton 

 
REVIEWED BY:          DATE:     
      

 
APPROVED BY:          DATE:     
                             Owner 

 

46



Project: Stanton Springs North Rough Grade Phase 1A & 1B
Date: 8/17/2023

Location: Social Circle, GA
Job No.: 26900.0001

Item Description Qty UoM Unit Rate Total

Mobilization - General Conditions 1 LS  $    63,200.00  $      63,200.00 
Slope Drains 1,000 LF  $           48.85  $      48,850.00 
Sediment Basin (Sd3) 9 EA  $    50,000.00  $    450,000.00 
Check Dams - Stone 18 EA  $      1,000.00  $      18,000.00 
Slope Matting 25,165 SY  $             1.82  $      45,800.30 
Grassing - Seed -217,800 SY  $             0.57  $   (124,146.00)

Clearing & Grubbing 16 AC  $      8,625.00  $    138,000.00 
Earthwork - (measured cut) 235,222 CY  $             4.15  $    976,171.30 
Topsoil Stripping & Stockpile (5” avg. depth) 10,756 CY  $             3.90  $      41,948.40 
Respread Topsoil @ Slopes 2,768 CY  $             5.00  $      13,840.00 
Muck & Replace Unsuitable Material 75,003 CY  $             8.00  $    600,024.00 

 $ 2,271,688.00 

Quick Lime - Material 1000 TON  $         350.00  $    350,000.00 
Quick Lime - Manipulation (12" Depth) 105,820 SY  $             1.70  $    179,894.00 

Mass Rock Excavation 20,000 CY  $           15.00  $    300,000.00 

 $    829,894.00 

Stone for Creek Bottoms

18" RCP - Class III 6 LF  $           70.00  $           420.00 
24" RCP - Class III -372 LF  $           90.00  $     (33,480.00)

 $     (33,060.00)

COP #8 3,068,522 $  $             0.01 $21,479.65
 $      21,479.65 

$3,090,001.65

Original Contract Price: $42,340,247.61
Adjustments from Change Order #1: -$8,189,502.51
Adjustments from Change Order #2: $3,993,324.23
Adjustments from Change Order #3: $4,551,347.70
Adjustments from Change Order #4: $950,798.22
Adjustments from Change Order #5: $1,281,066.43
Adjustments from Change Order #6: $910,555.58
Adjustments from Change Order #7: $922,877.34
Adjustments from Change Order #8: $3,090,001.65

New Contract Price: $49,850,716.26

PLATEAU P&P BOND RECONCILIATION

Sub–Total, Bond Reconciliation

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION COSTS:

Sub–Total, Contingency Scope Items

CHANGE ORDER #8 - EXHIBIT A

CLEARING AND GRADING

Sub–Total, Clearing and Grading

CONTINGENCY SCOPE ITEMS

STONE BEDDING

STORM DRAINAGE

Sub–Total, Storm Drainage

47



STANTON SPRING NORTH ROUGH GRADING 
PHASE 1A AND PHASE 1B  

STANTON SPRINGS, GEORGIA 
 
 

CHANGE ORDER NO. 9 
J–26900.0001 

 
 
PROJECT:  Stanton Spring North Rough Grade Phase 1A and Phase 1B     
 
PROJECT NO.:  J – 26900.0001     DATE:   8.17.2023   
 
OWNER:  Joint Development Authority         
 
CONTRACTOR:  Plateau Excavation, Inc.         
 
The Contractor is hereby requested to comply with the following changes from the contract plans and 
specifications: 
 

This Change Order #9 will release scope of work as outlined in Exhibit “A”.    

As part of this project scope of work, Contractor shall give preference to local businesses and use its 
best efforts to utilize subcontractors and materials which are local to Jasper, Morgan, Newton, and 
Walton Counties.  

Additionally, Contractor will be solely responsible for the safety of its equipment and employees.  

 
This document shall become an amendment to contract and all provisions of the contract will apply 
hereto. 
 
 
ACCEPTED  BY:         DATE:     
    Contractor  

 
RECOMMENDED BY:         DATE:         08.17.2023  
                       Thomas & Hutton 

 
REVIEWED BY:          DATE:     
      

 
APPROVED BY:          DATE:     
                             Owner 

 

48



Project: Stanton Springs North Rough Grade Phase 1A & 1B
Date: 8/17/2023

Location: Social Circle, GA
Job No.: 26900.0001

Item Description Qty UoM Unit Rate Total

Mobilization - General Conditions 3 Mons  $    63,200.00  $    189,600.00 
Erosion, Sedimentation, and Pollution Control 62 AC  $      2,045.00  $    126,790.00 

Slope Drains 700 LF  $           48.85  $      34,195.00 
Sediment Basin (Sd3) 2 EA  $    50,000.00  $    100,000.00 
Retrofit (Rt-b) 2 EA  $      2,500.00  $        5,000.00 
Slope Matting 77,574 SY  $             1.82  $    141,184.68 
Grassing - Seed 2,664,199 SY  $             0.57  $ 1,518,593.43 
Additional Demo 7100 SF  $             7.00  $      49,700.00 

Clearing & Grubbing 16 AC  $      8,625.00  $    138,000.00 
Earthwork - (measured cut) 1,092,361 CY  $             4.15  $ 4,533,298.15 
Topsoil Stripping & Stockpile (5” avg. depth) 41,678 CY  $             3.90  $    162,543.33 
Respread Topsoil @ Slopes 8,533 CY  $             5.00  $      42,665.00 
Double Handle Topsoil 178,605 CY  $             4.15  $    741,210.75 
Double Handle Muck Material 150,000 CY  $             4.15  $    622,500.00 

$8,405,280.34

Quick Lime - Material 1000 TON  $         350.00  $    350,000.00 
Quick Lime - Manipulation (12" Depth) 105,820 SY  $             1.70  $    179,894.00 

Mass Rock Excavation 10,000 CY  $           15.00  $    150,000.00 

$679,894.00

Stone for Creek Bottoms
12" CMP 2,000 LF  $           25.32  $      50,640.00 
Pipe Fittings/Reducers 8 EA  $         500.00  $        4,000.00 

$54,640.00

18" RCP - Class III 440 LF  $           70.00 $30,800.00
24" RCP - Class III 125 LF  $           90.00 $11,250.00
18" Headwall 1 EA  $      6,500.00 $6,500.00

$48,550.00

COP #9 9,188,364 $  $             0.01 $64,318.55
$64,318.55

$9,252,682.89

Original Contract Price: $42,340,247.61
Adjustments from Change Order #1: -$8,189,502.51
Adjustments from Change Order #2: $3,993,324.23
Adjustments from Change Order #3: $4,551,347.70
Adjustments from Change Order #4: $950,798.22
Adjustments from Change Order #5: $1,281,066.43
Adjustments from Change Order #6: $910,555.58
Adjustments from Change Order #7: $922,877.34
Adjustments from Change Order #8: $3,090,001.65
Adjustments from Change Order #9: $9,252,682.89

New Contract Price: $59,103,399.15

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION COSTS:

PLATEAU P&P BOND RECONCILIATION

Sub–Total, Bond Reconciliation

STONE BEDDING

Sub–Total, Stone Bedding

STORM DRAINAGE

Sub–Total, Storm Drainage

CHANGE ORDER #9 - EXHIBIT A

CLEARING AND GRADING

Sub–Total, Clearing and Grading

CONTINGENCY SCOPE ITEMS

Sub–Total, Contingency Scope Items

49



Project: Stanton Springs North Rough Grade Phase 1A & 1B
Date: 8/17/2023

Location: Social Circle, GA
Job No.: 26900.0001

Item Description Qty UoM Unit Rate Total

Mobilization - General Conditions 3 Mons $63,200.00 $189,600.00

Erosion, Sedimentation, and Pollution Control 62 AC $2,045.00 $126,790.00
Slope Drains 700 LF $48.85 $34,195.00
Sediment Basin (Sd3) 2 EA $50,000.00 $100,000.00
Retrofit (Rt-b) 2 EA $2,500.00 $5,000.00
Slope Matting 77,574 SY $1.82 $141,184.68
Grassing - Seed 2,664,199 SY $0.57 $1,518,593.43
Additional Demo 7100 SF $7.00 $49,700.00

Clearing & Grubbing 16 AC $8,625.00 $138,000.00
Earthwork - (measured cut) 1,092,361 CY $4.15 $4,533,298.15
Topsoil Stripping & Stockpile (5” avg. depth) 41,678 CY $3.90 $162,543.33
Respread Topsoil @ Slopes 8,533 CY $5.00 $42,665.00
Double Handle Topsoil 178,605 CY $4.15 $741,210.75
Double Handle Muck Material 150,000 CY $4.15 $622,500.00

$8,405,280.34

Quick Lime - Material 1000 TON $350.00 $350,000.00
Quick Lime - Manipulation (12" Depth) 105,820 SY $1.70 $179,894.00

Mass Rock Excavation 10,000 CY $15.00 $150,000.00

$679,894.00

Stone for Creek Bottoms

12" CMP 2,000 LF $25.32 $50,640.00
Pipe Fittings/Reducers 8 EA $500.00 $4,000.00

$54,640.00

18" RCP - Class III 440 LF  $            70.00 $30,800.00

24" RCP - Class III 125 LF  $            90.00 $11,250.00
18" Headwall 1 EA  $      6,500.00 $6,500.00

$48,550.00

COP #9 9,188,364 $  $              0.01 $64,318.55
$64,318.55

$9,252,682.89

1 Engineering Design 1 LS $197,500.00 $197,500.00

$197,500.00

1 3rd Party Monitoring 1 LS $250,000.00 $250,000.00

2 Insurance 1 LS $120,000.00 $120,000.00

$370,000.00

1 Construction Observation & Testing - New Pad 1 LS $172,500.00 $172,500.00

$172,500.00

Sub–Total, Contingency Scope Items

CHANGE ORDER #9 - EXHIBIT A

CLEARING AND GRADING

Sub–Total, Clearing and Grading

CONTINGENCY SCOPE ITEMS

STONE BEDDING

Sub–Total, Stone Bedding

STORM DRAINAGE

Sub–Total, Storm Drainage

TOTAL TESTING:

Engineering Design

TOTAL DESIGN:

3rd Party Monitoring

PLATEAU P&P BOND RECONCILIATION

Sub–Total, Bond Reconciliation

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION COSTS:

Testing Services 

TOTAL MONITORING:

50



 
August 17, 2023 

 
 
Mrs. Andrea P. Gray 
I–20 JDA  
300 East Church Street 
Monroe, GA 30655 
 Re: Stanton Springs North Rough Grade  
  Social Circle, Georgia 
  Pay Request #11 
  J–26900.0001 
 
Dear Mrs. Gray: 

Thomas & Hutton is currently monitoring site work construction and has reviewed the 
enclosed Pay Application #11.  We recommend a payment of $6,090,927.30 to Plateau 
Excavation, Inc., and $76,049.48 to Thomas & Hutton based on the terms outlined in article 
14.02.B of the General Conditions of the Contract.   

 
If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to call us at 912–667–4210.  
       

Sincerely, 
 
     THOMAS & HUTTON 
 
 
 

Kevin P. Forbes  
           

KPF/kts 
Enclosures 
 
cc:  Mr. Jason O. Chambless, P.E., Thomas & Hutton 
 Mr. Scott C. Greene, P.E., Thomas & Hutton 
 Mr. Ralph L. Forbes, P.E., Thomas & Hutton 
  
 

51



APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATION FOR PAYMENT AIA DOCUMENT G702 PAGE ONE OF PAGES

TO CONTRACTOR: PROJECT: Rivian JOB NO.:  22041 Distribution to:   Eleven

Joint Deleveopment Authority APPLICATION NO:  Eleven OWNER    

2105 Lee S. SW Covington, Ga. 30014 PERIOD TO: 08/31/2023 ARCHITECT38442

FROM SUBCONTRACTOR: VIA ARCHITECT: CONTRACTOR

Plateau Excavation, Inc.  

375 Lee Industrial Blvd. PROJECT NOS:  

Austell, Ga. 30167

CONTRACT FOR:  CONTRACT DATE:

CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT The undersigned Contractor certifies that to the best of the Contractor's knowledge, 

Application is made for payment, as shown below, in connection with the Contract. information and belief the Work covered by this Application for Payment has been

Continuation Sheet, AIA Document G703, is attached. completed in accordance with the Contract Documents, that all amounts have been paid by 

 the Contractor for Work for which previous Certificates for Payment were issued and 

 payments received from the Owner, and that current payment shown herein is now due.

1.  ORIGINAL CONTRACT SUM  $ 42,340,247.61

2.  Net change by Change Orders  $ 16,763,151.53 CONTRACTOR:    Plateau Excavation, Inc.

3.  CONTRACT SUM TO DATE (Line 1 ± 2)                                        $ $ 59,103,399.14

4.  TOTAL COMPLETED & STORED TO $ 48,705,374.21                         

         DATE       (Column G on G703) By:  Date: August 17, 2023

5.  RETAINAGE:

a. 10 % of Completed Work                 $ 4,870,537.42 State of:  Georgia County of:  Cobb

(Column D + E on G703) Subscribed and sworn to before me this 17 day of August 2023

b. 10 % of Stored Material                   $ 0.00 Notary Public:

(Column F on G703) My Commission expires:  7/10/2027
           Total Retainage (Lines 5a + 5b or

Total in Column I of G703) $ 4,870,537.42 ARCHITECT'S CERTIFICATE FOR PAYMENT
6.  TOTAL EARNED LESS RETAINAGE $ 43,834,836.79 In accordance with the Contract Documents, based on on-site observations and the data

(Line 4 Less Line 5 Total) comprising the application, the Architect certifies to the Owner that to the best of  the

7.  LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS  Architect's knowledge, information and belief the Work has progressed as indicated,

        RECEIVED $ 37,743,909.49 the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents, and the Contractor

8.  CURRENT PAYMENT DUE $ 6,090,927.30 is entitled to payment of the AMOUNT CERTIFIED.

9.  BALANCE TO FINISH, INCLUDING RETAINAGE                     $ 15,268,562.35

(Line 3 less Line 6) AMOUNT CERTIFIED . . . . . . . . . . . $

CHANGE ORDER SUMMARY ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS (Attach explanation if amount certified differs from the amount applied. Initial all figures on this

     Total changes approved Application and onthe Continuation Sheet that are changed to conform with the amount certified.)

     in previous months by Owner $12,609,969.50 $8,189,502.51 ARCHITECT:

     Total approved this Month $12,375,744.54 $33,060.00 By:  Date:

     TOTALS $24,985,714.04 $8,222,562.51 This Certificate is not negotiable.  The AMOUNT CERTIFIED is payable only to the 
Contractor named herein. Issuance, payment and acceptance of payment are without 

     NET CHANGES by Change Order $16,763,151.53 prejudice to any rights of the Owner or Contractor under this Contract.

AIA DOCUMENT G702 · APPLICATION AND CERTIFICATION FOR PAYMENT · 1992 EDITION · AIA  · ©1992 THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS, 1735 NEW YORK AVE., N.W., WASHINGTON, DC 20006-5292

52



Continuation Sheet Rivian APPLICATION NUMBER: Eleven

JOB # 22041 APPLICATION DATE: 8/17/2023

MONTHLY REQUISITION REPORT PERIOD TO: 8/31/2023

AIA DOCUMENT G703 ARCH PROJECT NO.:

A B C D E F G H I
ITEM DESCRIPTION OF W ORK SCHEDULED MATERIALS TOTAL % BALANCE RETAINAGE

NUMBER VALUE PREVIOUS THIS PRESENTLY COMPLETED  (G/C) TO  FINISH

PERIOD PERIOD STORED AND STORED (C-G)

NOT IN TO DATE

D OR E  (D+E+F)

 W ORK COMPLETED

2 Phase 1

3 Mobilization 1,737,800.00 1,574,830.00 162,970.00 1,737,800.00 100% 0.00 173,780.00

4 Erosion, Sediment,Pollution 1,304,710.00 1,297,584.00 7,126.00 1,304,710.00 100% 0.00 130,471.00

5 Demolition 1,040,263.00 1,040,263.00 0.00 1,040,263.00 100% 0.00 104,026.30

6 Well Abandonment 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 100% 0.00 5,000.00

7 Clearing & Grubbing 1,518,000.00 1,518,000.00 0.00 1,518,000.00 100% 0.00 151,800.00

8 Add'l Area Beyond Plan 483,000.00 483,000.00 0.00 483,000.00 100% 0.00 48,300.00

9 Topsoil Strip & Stockpile 1,496,972.10 1,496,972.10 0.00 1,496,972.10 100% 0.00 149,697.21

12 Earthwork 24,070,000.00 23,421,369.80 648,630.20 24,070,000.00 100% 0.00 2,407,000.00

13 Soil Cement Treatment 950,000.00 179,835.00 0.00 179,835.00 19% 770,165.00 17,983.50

14 Mass Rock Excavation 1,500,000.00 10,000.00 900,000.00 910,000.00 61% 590,000.00 91,000.00

15 Phase 2 COP #2

16

Erosion/Sedementation & Pollution 

Control 153,375.00 153,375.00 0.00 153,375.00 100% 0.00 15,337.50

17 Add'l Clearing/Grubbing 310,500.00 310,500.00 0.00 310,500.00 100% 0.00 31,050.00

18 Add'l Striping/Stockpile -33,005.70 -33,005.70 0.00 -33,005.70 100% 0.00 -3,300.57

19 Earthwork (Measured Cut) 749,336.45 492,762.00 256,574.45 749,336.45 100% 0.00 74,933.65

20 Settlement Plates 30,000.00 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 100% 0.00 3,000.00

21 Respread Topsoil at Slopes 134,925.00 72,068.00 62,857.00 134,925.00 100% 0.00 13,492.50

22 Muck/Replace Unsuitable Material 600,000.00 600,000.00 0.00 600,000.00 100% 0.00 60,000.00

23 Slope Matting 446,482.40 446,482.00 0.00 446,482.00 100% 0.40 44,648.20

24 Slope Drains 306,533.75 306,533.75 0.00 306,533.75 100% 0.00 30,653.38

25 Stone for Creek Bottoms 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0% 0.00 0.00

28 Non-Woven Geotextile Lining 61,333.33 61,333.33 0.00 61,333.33 100% 0.00 6,133.33

29 #4 Stone 214,104.00 214,104.00 0.00 214,104.00 100% 0.00 21,410.40

30 Control Structures 664,000.00 664,000.00 0.00 664,000.00 100% 0.00 66,400.00

31 Rip-Rap Spillways 46,800.00 46,800.00 0.00 46,800.00 100% 0.00 4,680.00

32

Grassing-Seed for 474 AC Main 

Pad 308,940.00 308,940.00 0.00 308,940.00 100% 0.00 30,894.00

33 Phase 3 COP #3

34 Earthwork/Grading 1,271,554.50 884,741.50 0.00 884,741.50 70% 386,813.00 88,474.15

35 Storm Drainage -664,000.00 -664,000.00 0.00 -664,000.00 100% 0.00 -66,400.00

36 Storm Drainage 459,594.00 459,570.00 0.00 459,570.00 100% 24.00 45,957.00

37 Well Closures 35,000.00 35,000.00 0.00 35,000.00 100% 0.00 3,500.00

38 Weekly Downtime Costs 941,720.00 941,720.00 0.00 941,720.00 100% 0.00 94,172.00

39 Temporary Grass 132,479.20 132,479.20 0.00 132,479.20 100% 0.00 13,247.92

40 Lime for Dying @ 2.5% 2,255,000.00 2,255,000.00 0.00 2,255,000.00 100% 0.00 225,500.00

41 Trench Rock with Hammer 120,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 4% 115,000.00 500.00

43 COP #4

44 Weekly Time Down Costs 941,720.00 941,720.00 0.00 941,720.00 100% 0.00 94,172.00

45 COP #1 -57,326.52 -57,326.52 0.00 -57,326.52 100% 0.00 -5,732.65

46 COP #2 27,953.27 27,953.27 0.00 27,953.27 100% 0.00 2,795.33

47 COP #3 31,859.43 31,859.43 0.00 31,859.43 100% 0.00 3,185.94

48 COP #4 6,592.04 6,592.04 0.00 6,592.04 100% 0.00 659.20

49 COP #5

50 Weekly Downtime Costs 1,177,150.00 1,177,150.00 0.00 1,177,150.00 100% 0.00 117,715.00

51 Additional House Demo 34,090.00 34,090.00 0.00 34,090.00 100% 0.00 3,409.00

52 Pond One Double Handle Mat 53,988.00 53,988.00 0.00 53,988.00 100% 0.00 5,398.80

53 Undercut Access Road 6,933.30 6,933.30 0.00 6,933.30 100% 0.00 693.33

54 COP #5 8,905.13 8,905.13 0.00 8,905.13 100% 0.00 890.51

55 COP #6

56 Weekly Downtime Costs 323,520.00 323,520.00 0.00 323,520.00 100% 0.00 32,352.00

57 10" French Drain Pipe 117,885.00 117,885.00 0.00 117,885.00 100% 0.00 11,788.50

58 12" French Drain Pipe 152,553.00 152,553.00 0.00 152,553.00 100% 0.00 15,255.30

59

French Drain Pipe 

Fittings/Reducers 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 100% 0.00 1,000.00

60 French Drain Stone 281,600.00 281,600.00 0.00 281,600.00 100% 0.00 28,160.00

61 French Drain Fabric 18,668.00 18,668.00 0.00 18,668.00 100% 0.00 1,866.80

62 P&P Bond COP #6 6,329.58 6,329.58 0.00 6,329.58 100% 0.00 632.96

63 COP #7

64 Temporay Water Line 220,532.78 0.00 110,266.39 110,266.39 50% 110,266.39 11,026.64

65 Mucking Dry out Area 284,425.00 0.00 162,900.00 162,900.00 57% 121,525.00 16,290.00

66 Stone Bedding 411,504.33 0.00 205,752.17 205,752.17 50% 205,752.17 20,575.22

67 COP #7 P&P Bond 6,415.23 0.00 6,415.23 6,415.23 100% 0.00 641.52

68 COP #8

69 Clearing and Grading 2,271,688.00 0.00 938,624.40 938,624.40 41% 1,333,063.60 93,862.44

70 Contingency Scope Items 829,894.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0% 829,894.00 0.00

71 Storm Drainage Revisions -33,060.00 0.00 -33,060.00 -33,060.00 100% 0.00 -3,306.00

72 COP #8 P&P Bond 21,479.65 0.00 21,479.65 21,479.65 100% 0.00 2,147.97

73 COP #9

74 Clearing and Grading 8,405,280.34 0.00 3,149,652.96 3,149,652.96 37% 5,255,627.38 314,965.30

75 Contingency Scope Items 679,894.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0% 679,894.00 0.00

76 Stone Bedding 54,640.00 0.00 54,640.00 54,640.00 100% 0.00 5,464.00

77 Storm Drainage Revisions 48,550.00 0.00 48,550.00 48,550.00 100% 0.00 4,855.00

78 COP #8 P&P Bond 64,318.55 0.00 64,318.55 64,318.55 100% 0.00 6,431.86

TOTALS 59,103,399.14 41,937,677.21 6,767,696.99 0.00 48,705,374.21 82% 10,398,024.94 4,870,537.42

53



1 
 

RESOLUTION OF  
THE JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

JASPER COUNTY, MORGAN COUNTY, 
NEWTON COUNTY AND WALTON COUNTY 

Re: THOMAS AND HUTTON CONTRACTS 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, Newton 
County and Walton County, hereinafter the “Authority”, was duly formed under the Development 
Authorities Law, O.C.G.A. §36-62-1 et seq.; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority and the Georgia Department of Economic Development 
(“GDED”) have partnered to recruit Rivian Horizon, Inc. (“Rivian”) to construct an electric vehicle 
manufacturing facility on approximately 1,978 acres in the Stanton Springs North development 
park located in Morgan and Walton Counties (the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Project provides substantial public benefits to the region by generating 
7,500 jobs and a $5,000,000,000 investment; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority, GDED and Rivian entered into an Economic Development 
Agreement (“EDA”) which includes the incentives and obligations of the parties; and   
 
 WHEREAS, under the EDA, the Authority will undertake certain land acquisition, due 
diligence and site preparation work; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority engaged Thomas & Hutton to perform due diligence work, 
prepare grading plans, conduct certain site testing and serve as its Engineer and Owners 
Representative; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority pays for said services through a REBA grant which is funded 
through GDED; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority and GDED desire for the Authority to amend and restate 
certain contracts with Thomas and Hutton to reflect the current scope of work and addendums 
consistent with certain grading change orders.  
  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the Authority, 
as follows: 
 

1. The Authority hereby authorizes the Chairman and Secretary to execute the following 
contracts in substantially the forms as attached hereto pending final negotiation and 

54



2 
 

approval by legal counsel and approval by GDED: 
a. Amended and Restated Master Services Contract 
b. Addendum 1 to Master Services Contract – additional environmental due 

diligence (asbestos and UST removal) 
c. Addendum 2 to Master Services Contract – Additional Grading 
d. Addendum 1 to Special Inspection and Materials Testing Contract – Additional 

Grading 
 
 

 
 SO RESOLVED this _____ day of __________________, 2023. 
 
  
 

The Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, 
 Newton County and Walton County 
 
 
 
 By: _____________________________ 
 Jerry Silvio, Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 Attest: __________________________ 
  Bob Hughes, Secretary    
 
 
 
 

55



_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 
1 OF 26 

_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS  

AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER SERVICES CONTRACT 
FOR 

PROJECT ADVENTURE (RIVIAN) – STANTON SPRINGS NORTH 
CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 1 

 
This AMENDED and RESTATED AGREEMENT dated June 27, 2023 between JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON AND WALTON COUNTIES (“Client” and/or “Owner”) having its principal 
office at 300 E Church Street, Monroe, Georgia 30655, and THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. 
(“Consultant” or “Thomas & Hutton”), having its principal office at 50 Park of Commerce Way, Savannah, 
Georgia 31405, will supersede all prior contracts between the Parties in relation to the Project, and apply 
in full force and effect retroactively to Consultant’s first involvement with the Project, except with respect 
to the rates Consultant charged to Client for services before execution of this Amended and Restated 
Agreement, which are hereby ratified by the Parties hereto as full payment for such services.    
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
During the continuance of this agreement, Consultant agrees to provide supervision, labor, equipment, 
and tools to perform civil engineering and surveying consulting at the rates shown on the attached rate 
sheet.  Rates may be updated annually in January of the year.  For all work for which a scope can be 
developed, Consultant will provide JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND 
WALTON COUNTIES (“CLIENT”) with a Proposal for services needed to complete the work.   
 
PAYMENT FOR SERVICES 

 
Payment for services on the basis of "Time & Expense" shall be paid in accordance with the schedule of 
charges attached hereto. 
 
Project related costs for printing, reproductions, materials, and travel will be billed as reimbursable 
expenses. 
 
During the continuance of this agreement, Consultant agrees to provide supervision, labor, equipment, 
and tools to perform civil engineering and surveying consulting at the rates shown on the attached rate 
sheet.  Rates may be updated annually in January of the year.  For all work for which a scope can be 
developed, Consultant will provide JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND 
WALTON COUNTIES (“CLIENT”) with a Proposal for services needed to complete the work.  After 
acceptance by CLIENT, Proposal will be incorporated into this Contract as an Addendum. 
 
I. SCOPE OF SERVICES – TASK #1 

 
A. GENERAL CONSULTING PHASES 
 

1. Meetings and Calls 
 

Consultant shall assist Client during the project with meetings/calls with 
development team, meeting with government officials, company officials, and 
any other requests not defined that may occur during the project. Services shall 
be provided on a Time and Expense basis. 
 

2. Schedules and GANTT Charts 
 

56



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

2 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

Consultant shall assist Client during the course the project in preparation of 
schedules and GANTT charts, including coordination with project team members 
and responses to comments.  Services shall be provided on a Time and Expense 
basis. 
 

3. Rezoning Assistance  
 

Consultant shall assist Client during rezoning process for the site in its entirety.  
Assistance includes preparation of applications, documents, and exhibits. 
Services shall be provided on a Time and Expense basis. 

 
4. DRI 
 

Consultant shall assist Client with preparation of DRI information for the rezoning 
is for submission by Walton / Morgan County. Services shall be provided on a Time 
and Expense basis. 

 
5. Wetland Permit Drawings / Buffer Variance Drawings  
 

Consultant shall assist with preparation of wetland permit and buffer variance 
drawings for the Stanton Springs North for the Rivian project.  Services shall be 
provided on a Time and Expense basis.  Permit drawings to include impacts as 
needed for the development and coordinated with RLC on Application for 
Wetland Permit. 
 
Buffer variance drawings shall include soil erosion and sediment control plans per 
phase of development to match required permit. 

 
6. Adventure Coordination 
 

Consultant shall assist Client in meetings and calls with Rivian during the project 
and any other requests not defined that may occur during the project. Services 
shall be provided on a Time and Expense basis. 
 

7. Water & Sewer Coordination 
 

Consultant shall assist Client during the project with meetings with development 
team, meeting with government officials, company officials, and any other 
requests related to water and sewer service for the project not defined that may 
occur during the project. Services shall be provided on a Time and Expense basis.  
Design is not included in this scope of work.   

 
8. Natural Gas Coordination 
 

Consultant shall assist Client during the project with meetings with development 
team, meeting with government officials, company officials, and any other 
requests related to natural gas service for the project not defined that may occur 
during the project. Services shall be provided on a Time and Expense basis.  
Design is not included in this scope of work.   

57



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

3 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

 
 
 

9. Power Coordination 
 

Consultant shall assist Client during the project with meetings with development 
team, meeting with government officials, company officials, and any other 
requests related to electrical service for the project not defined that may occur 
during the project. Services shall be provided on a Time and Expense basis.  
Design is not included in this scope of work.   
 

10. GDOT Coordination  
 
 Consultant will coordinate with GDOT on their work within the Stanton Springs 

North to include meetings, calls for any work on Hwy 278 widening, Frontage 
Road, and new interchange. 

 
11. Railroad Coordination 
 
 Consultant shall work with JDA, State, CSX, and Rivian in coordinating the spur to 

serve the property. 
 

B. SURVEY PHASE 
 

Based upon the final plan approved by the Client, Consultant will perform the following 
Survey Phase tasks: 
 

1. Boundary Survey for all parcels 
  

Surveyors shall prepare a boundary survey of the Stanton Springs North site, to 
include each parcel within the 1,978 acres, following applicable State and local 
survey requirements.  Surveyor shall obtain horizontal data.    
 
Scope also includes converting Boundary surveys to ALTA surveys as described 
below. 
 
Scope also includes providing SUE Survey for each parcel to identify any utilities 
in place on existing parcels. 
  

2. ALTA Survey  
 

Consultant will conduct a LAND TITLE SURVEY for the Stanton Springs North site, 
including the combined parcels, in accordance with the Minimum Standard 
Detail Requirements for ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEYS as adopted by American 
Land Title Association and National Society of Professional Surveyors dated 2021.  
 
The optional survey responsibilities and specifications shall be in accordance with 
TABLE “A” of the Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE 
SURVEYS as negotiated between the Consultant and the Owner/Client.  TABLE 

58



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

4 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

“A” shall be completed and made part of this contract included as Exhibit “A.”  
Our services will consist of the following:  

 
 Perform the necessary research of the adjoining properties to accurately 

determine our property boundaries; this will not constitute a title exam of 
the adjoining or the subject property.  All TITLE commitments and 
documents shall be provided by the Owner/Client.  It shall be the 
Owner/Client’s responsibility to provide the Consultant with a complete 
title package for the subject parcel including legible copies of all 
documents and plats affecting title to the property.  Prior to commencing 
work, a rough draft of the commitment and associated documents must 
be received by the Consultant. 

 
 Perform a field record survey of the property as defined in Paragraphs 3 

and 5 of the “Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for ALTA/NSPS Land 
Title Surveys” as adopted in 2021. 

 
 The survey will be performed in conformance to the Accuracy Standards 

as adopted by ALTA and NSPS in 2021.  The positional uncertainties 
resulting from the measurements made during the survey will not exceed 
the allowable positional tolerance as defined therein. 

 
 Prepare a plat of the property in accordance with “Minimum Standard 

Detail requirements for ALTA/NSPS Land Title Surveys” as adopted in 2021.  
Plat shall include site features as defined in paragraph 5, subparagraphs 
(A) through (G) and to contain map identification and information 
detailed in paragraph 6.   
 

 Survey to include optional items as follows: 
 

o Address(es) of the surveyed property if disclosed in documents 
provided to or obtained by the consultant or observed while 
conducting the fieldwork. 

 
o Flood zone classification (with proper annotation based on federal 

Flood Insurance Rate Maps or the state or local equivalent) 
depicted by scaled map location and graphic plotting only. 

 
o Gross land area (and other areas if specified by the Client). 

 
 If the zoning setback requirements specific to the surveyed property are 

set forth in a zoning report or letter provided to the consultant by the client 
or the client’s designated representative, and if those requirements do not 
require an interpretation by the consultant, graphically depict the building 
setback requirements on the plat or map.  Identify the date and source 
of the report or letter. 

 Exterior dimensions of all buildings at ground level. 
 
 Square footage of: 

59



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

5 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

 
o exterior footprint of all buildings at ground level. 
o Measured height of all buildings above grade at a location 

specified by the client. If no location is specified, the point of 
measurement shall be identified. 

 Substantial features observed in the process of conducting the 
fieldwork (in addition to the improvements and features required 
pursuant to Section 5 above) (e.g., parking lots, billboards, signs, 
swimming pools, landscaped areas, substantial areas of refuse). 

 
 Number and type (e.g., disabled, motorcycle, regular, and other marked 

specialized types) of clearly identifiable parking spaces on surface 
parking areas, lots and in parking structures.  Striping of clearly identifiable 
parking spaces on surface parking areas and lots. 

 
 Evidence of underground utilities existing on or serving the surveyed 

property in addition to the observed evidence of utilities required 
pursuant to Section 5.E.iv as determined by: 

 
(a)  plans and/or reports provided by client (with reference as to the 

sources of information 
 
(b)   markings coordinated by the consultant pursuant to a private 

utility locate request  
 
 Names of adjoining clients according to current tax records.  If more than 

one client, identify the first client's name listed in the tax records followed 
by “et al.” 

 
 Evidence of recent earth moving work, building construction, or building 

additions observed in the process of conducting the fieldwork. 
 
 Proposed changes in street right of way lines, if such information is made 

available to the consultant by the controlling jurisdiction.  Evidence of 
recent street or sidewalk construction or repairs observed in the process of 
conducting the fieldwork. 

 
 Pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 (and applicable selected Table A Items, 

excluding Table A Item 1) include as a part of the survey any plottable 
offsite (i.e., appurtenant) easements or servitudes disclosed in documents 
provided to or obtained by the consultant  

 
 Plat shall bear only the unaltered certification statement as outlined in 

paragraph 7 of “Minimum Standard Detail requirements for ALTA/NSPS 
Land Title Surveys” as adopted in 2021.  

 
  3. Road Quit Claim Exhibits and Legals  
 

60



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

6 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

Surveyors shall work with JDA, State and GDOT on roads to be abandoned and 
provide surveys and legal descriptions to present to municipalities on getting 
roads abandoned. 

 
  4. State Property Commission Exhibits / Legals  
 

Surveyors shall provide survey and exhibits with legal descriptions for use in transfer 
of property from JDA to State Property Commission. 

 
  5. Recombination Plat  
 

Surveyor shall prepare a survey plat of recombination to combine each individual 
parcel into a final subdivision plat of parcels and rights–of–way. 
 

6. Staking of Frontage Road 
 

Surveyor shall stake right of way for Frontage Road with intent to define southern 
boundary of Rivian site. 

 
  7. Rivian Training Center Boundary Survey  
 

Surveyor shall prepare survey and legal description including easements for 
utilities of record for Training Center Site. 
 

8. Subdivision Plat Services 

 Surveyor shall sub–divide property as such to include right–of–way, Training 
Center Site, Rivian site and Interchange property to record separate parcels. 

 
C. DESIGN PHASE 

 
1. Rough Grading Plans 

 
Consultant shall prepare rough grading plans for approximately 500 – 600–acre 
pad per coordination with Rivian for a total land disturbance of approximately 
750 acres including stormwater plans.  Grading shall also include filling wetlands 
and streams as part of 404 Permit. 

 
 The Consultant shall prepare construction documents for design of rough pad 

grading plans to match the plan in the EDA agreement.  These plans shall be 
submitted to the Owner for review.  The site development plans will include: 

 
 Drainage – Stormwater ponds, including preparation of design 

calculation for acres graded. 
 Erosion Control – for rough grading. 
 Construction Details – grading, pond drainage, and erosion control. 
 Quantity Takeoff, including cut and fill calculations for earthwork. 
 Technical specifications for clearing, and earthwork,  
 Design calculations – pond storm drainage 

61



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

7 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

 Bid Documents, Advertisement, and Bid Process for chosen contractor. 
 Coordinate contracts with JDA and award of project. 

 
  2. Clearing and Erosion Control Design 

 
Consultant shall prepare an erosion, sedimentation, and pollution control plan 
(ES&PC Plan) for the limits of rough grading. The plans will be broken into Phase 
1A and Phase 1B based on time of grading as relates to Wetland Permit.  The 
design of erosion control measures shall be in accordance with State of Georgia 
Manual for Erosion, Sedimentation, and Pollution Control (Green Book) guidelines 
including best management practices (BMP’s) to reduce the release of sediment 
from within limits of disturbance of the project.  ES&PC Plans will include storm 
drainage measures needed to meet the applicable stormwater runoff and 
sediment storage requirements for the disturbed areas.   The plan will consistently 
be monitored and adapted to sight conditions and engineered improvements 
made as the project progresses to minimize the release of sediment amounts 
outside of boundary.  The site plan will include multiple drainage basins and 
grading area due to the size of the disturbed area.  The design will be prepared 
in accordance with latest addition of Green Book as of the date of this 
Agreement.   
  
These tasks will be performed on time and expense basis. 

 
D. PERMITTING PHASE 

 
1. Permits 

 
 Per Owner’s instruction, the project is not subject to local permitting by law, but 

the Owner has requested that Walton County review plans and oversee 
compliance Consultant shall assist Owner with the preparation of submittal 
packages for the development approval for rough grading and soil erosion 
sediment control to Walton County.  The payment of fees associated with the 
application process is the responsibility of the Owner.  Consultant shall submit final 
plans and specifications to the applicable local, state, and federal agencies for 
review.  Agency submittals anticipated for this project include: 
 
 Walton County – Rough Grading 
  GA EPD 

 
 Submittal fees are not included in our fee schedule and shall be provided by the 

Owner at the time of submittal.  Consultant will assist Owner in obtaining 
construction permits for the project.  This phase includes revising plans and 
specifications according to agency comments and if requested, meeting with 
the agencies on behalf of the Owner. 

 
2. Erosion Control Permit – Over 50 Acres 

 

62



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

8 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

Consultant will assist the Owner in compliance with the requirements of the permit 
to Discharge Storm Water Associated with Construction Activity.  This assistance 
may include, when requested by the Owner: 

 
 Submit Notice of Intent (NOI) to the State on behalf of the Owner (as a 

Primary Permittee).  This will include a certification that the Erosion, 
Sedimentation, and Pollution Control Plan (ES&PCP) has been prepared 
in accordance with the General Permit.   

 Develop a Comprehensive Monitoring Plan (CMP).  The ES&PCP will 
indicate monitoring locations and may be used in the CMP. 

 Provide an initial observation of the measures installed under the ES&PC 
within one (1) week after construction activities commence.  Additional 
observations will be conducted as other measures required by the Plan 
are installed. 

 Prepare and submit, as warranted, amendments to the ES&PCP. 
 
 E. CONSTRUCTION PHASE 
 

Consultant will provide the following services for the Construction Phase: 
 

1. Construction Phase Services – Pad Grading  
 

During the course of construction, the Consultant will provide the following 
services: 
 
 Review material data, shop drawings, and construction schedules 

provided by the Contractor. 
 Provide construction management assistance to coordinate with the 

Owner’s Contractor and to ascertain that the work is in substantial 
conformance with the contract documents and with the design intent. 

 Attend final field inspections by regulating agencies for the project. 
 Review record drawings provided by Contractor. 
 Request project acceptance by applicable agencies. 
 Construction Site visits. 
 Construction Meetings. 
 Pad Turnover Assistance. 
 Pad Grading Survey Analysis. 
 Establish Additional Vertical Survey Control for Contractor. 

 
Construction phase services do not include exhaustive or continuous on–site 
inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Contractor's work.  However, it 
does include visits to the project site at intervals appropriate to the various stages 
of construction to review general compliance with approved plans and 
specifications.  Such visits shall not require Consultant to assume responsibilities for 
the means and methods of construction, nor for safety measures or conditions on 
the job site.  Both parties understand that the Contractor has notification 
requirements at specific intervals of the construction process.  Consultant does 

63



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

9 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

not provide accessibility construction compliance verification.  This service can 
be provided at the request of the Owner with specific scopes and fees. 
  
The Consultant provides construction services as defined above for the work 
designed by the Consultant.  Other construction work that may occur on site is 
the responsibility of other design professionals or the Owner and expressly not the 
responsibility of the Consultant. 
 

2. Construction Meetings  
 

During the course of construction, Consultant will attend construction meetings 
at the site or at a location near the site or weekly virtual meetings with Contractor.    

 
3. Record Drawing Preparation – Pad Grading  
 

Consultant shall prepare record drawings based on information supplied by the 
Contractor.  The Contractor will provide a survey regarding the constructed 
facilities.  The survey provided by Contractor shall be certified by a registered 
surveyor licensed in the state in which the work is performed, if required by the 
governing agency.  The scope does not include fieldwork on the part of the 
Consultant.  The information will be compiled in an AutoCAD format by the 
Contractor and submitted to the Consultant.  The Consultant will review this 
information to ensure that the information submitted meets the intended design.  
The Consultant shall not verify or certify that the information submitted by the 
Contractor or Contractor Representative is correct.  The Consultant will submit this 
information to the reviewing agency.  The record drawings will meet the 
requirements of applicable drawing specifications at the time this contract is 
executed.  In addition, the Record Drawings will include: 

 
 Storm drainage structures, inverts, and frame elevations (if applicable) 
 The scope does not include the location or depth of any power, 

telephone, cable television, or natural gas lines. 
 The record drawing will be compiled from field information collected 

during the survey phase, water, and sewer lateral locations as determined 
in the pad elevation survey, contractor’s notes, and observations made 
by Consultant.  The data will be presented in a format for the reviewing 
agency’s review. 

 
4. Pad Turnover Assistance – Pad Grading  
 
 Based on program established with Rivian, Consultant shall prepare pad turnover 

package to include final survey of pad, density reports by Terracon and any other 
pertinent information to release pad to Rivian. 

 
 F. ENVIRONMENTAL DUE DILIGENCE 
 

Thomas & Hutton will retain the services of Resource Land Consultants (RLC), Terracon 
Consultants, Inc., and Brockington as subconsultants performing Environmental Due 
Diligence as follows: 

64



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

10 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

 
1. Phase I ESA (Terracon)  

 
The Phase I ESA will be performed consistent with the procedures included in 
ASTM E1527–13, Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I 
Environmental Assessment Process. The purpose of this ESA is to assist the 
Client in developing information to identify recognized environmental 
conditions (RECs – as defined below) in connection with the site as reflected 
by the scope of this proposal. The Phase I ESA will be performed on the entire 
site. 
 
ASTM E1527–13 contains a new definition of "migrate/migration," which refers to 
“the movement of hazardous substances or petroleum products in any form, 
including, for example, solid and liquid at the surface or subsurface, and 
vapor in the subsurface.” By including this explicit reference to migration in 
ASTM E1527–13, the standard clarifies that the potential for vapor migration 
should be addressed as part of a Phase I ESA and will be considered by 
Terracon in evaluation of RECs associated with the site. If modifications to the 
scope of services are required, please contact us to discuss proposal revisions. 
 
REC Definition: Recognized environmental conditions are defined by ASTM 
E1527–13 as “the presence or likely presence of any hazardous substances or 
petroleum products in, on, or at a property: 1) due to any release to the 
environment, 2) under conditions indicative of a release to the environment, or 
3) under conditions that pose a material threat of a future release to the 
environment. De minimis conditions are not recognized environmental 
conditions.” 
 
Physical Setting: The physical setting for the site will be described based on a 
review of the applicable USGS topographic quadrangle map, USDA soil survey, 
and selected geologic reference information. 

Historical Use Information: A review of selected historical sources, where 
reasonably ascertainable and readily available, will be conducted in an 
attempt to document obvious past land use of the site and adjoining properties 
back to 1940 or when the site was initially developed, whichever is earlier. The 
following selected references, depending on availability, applicability, and 
likely usefulness, will be reviewed for the site. 
 
■ Historical topographic maps 
■ Aerial photographs (approximate 10– to 15–year intervals) 
■ City directories (approximate 5–year intervals), if available 
■ Fire (Sanborn) insurance maps 
■ Property tax file information 
■ Site title search information, if provided by the Client 
■ Environmental liens and activity and use limitations (AULs), if provided by 

the Client 

65



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

11 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

■ Building department records 
■ Zoning records 
■ Prior environmental reports, permits and registrations; or geotechnical 

reports, if provided by the Client 
 
The Client and the current owner or their representative will be interviewed to 
provide information regarding past uses of the site and information pertaining 
to the use of hazardous substances and petroleum products on the site. 
Additionally, a reasonable attempt will be made to interview past owners, 
operators, and occupants of the site to the extent that they are identified within 
the scope of the ESA and are likely to have material information that is not 
duplicative of information already obtained through the assessment process. 

Regulatory Records Review: Consistent with ASTM E1527–13, where applicable 
are typically reviewed for indications of RECs, and the approximate minimum 
search distance of the review from the nearest property boundary. A 
database firm will be subcontracted to access governmental records used in 
this portion of the assessment. Additional federal, state, and local databases 
may be reviewed if provided by the database firm. Determining the location 
of unmapped facilities is beyond the scope of this assessment. 
 
 

2. Geotechnical (Preliminary Only) (Terracon) 
 
The purpose of this study will be to provide preliminary geotechnical engineering 
recommendations for project design and construction. The proposed Scope of 
Services consists of field exploration, laboratory testing, engineering analysis and 
report preparation. These services are described in the following sections. All 
information provided in this study will be useful in providing final design 
information for the project.  

Prior to the preparation of this proposal, Terracon was provided a copy of a 
preliminary evaluation performed by others on a portion (about 901 acres) of the 
property. This evaluation is purposed to evaluate those areas not previously 
evaluated. A boring location plan has been provided as Exhibit E.  

Field Exploration  

The field exploration program consists of the following: 

Number of Borings Planned Boring Depth (feet) 

25 30 or auger refusal 

3 50 or auger refusal 

 

The boring locations will be determined in the field based on site accessibility, 
utilities, etc. but will be placed across the eastern areas of the site. A preliminary 

66



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

12 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

evaluation has been performed in the westernmost portion of the site and thus 
this area will not be evaluated during this study.  

The exploration assumes that a shallow foundation or ground improvement 
system will be utilized. The borings will be extended to the planned depths or 
auger refusal, if shallower. If auger refusal is encountered shallower than 10 feet, 
Terracon will attempt to conduct one offset boring to further assess the refusal 
materials. The deeper borings on site will be useful in providing recommendations 
for deep foundations (if necessary) and Seismic Design information.  

Boring Layout and Elevations: Terracon will use handheld GPS equipment to 
locate borings. If available, existing grades and the proposed finished floor 
elevation(s) will be provided to Terracon prior to drilling activities to assess boring 
depth adequacy. Approximate ground surface elevations at the boring locations 
can be interpolated from a topographic plan, if provided. If more accurate 
boring locations and/or elevations are desired, a registered land surveyor should 
be contracted.  

Subsurface Exploration Procedures: Terracon will advance soil borings with an ATV 
or truck–mounted drill rig using continuous flight hollow stem augers or mud rotary 
drilling techniques. Soil sampling will be performed in general accordance with 
industry standard procedures wherein split–barrel samples (SPT) are obtained. 
Four SPT samples will be obtained in the upper ten feet of each boring and at 
intervals of about five feet thereafter / additional samples will be obtained at 
planned subgrade level. The SPT resistance values, also referred to as N–values, 
will be indicated on the boring logs at the test depths. The samples will be placed 
in appropriate containers, taken to our soil laboratory for testing, and classified 
by a geotechnical engineer. Upon completion of drilling and observation of 
groundwater levels the boreholes will be backfilled with the auger cuttings. 

The exploration team will prepare field boring logs as part of standard drilling 
operations including sampling depths, penetration distances, and other relevant 
sampling information. Field logs will include visual classifications of materials 
encountered during drilling, and Terracon’s interpretation of subsurface 
conditions between samples. Final boring logs, prepared from field logs, will 
represent the geotechnical engineer's interpretation, and will include 
modifications based on observations and laboratory tests. 

Site Access: The fee is based on the site being accessible to Terracon’s drilling 
equipment without clearing and Terracon providing layout of the borings; 
additional costs may result if this is not the case. No fees for site clearing have 
been included. The fee does not include services associated with wet ground 
conditions, additional tree or shrub clearing, damage of existing crops / 
landscaping, or the repair thereof. If such conditions are known to exist on the 
site, Terracon should be notified so that the scope of services and fee may be 
adjusted, if necessary. 

In order to conduct the exploration of the project site, Terracon must be granted 
access by the property owner. Terracon will be notified by Thomas & Hutton 
and/or the Owner when access to the site is allowed. If there are any restrictions 
or special requirements regarding this site or exploration, these should be known 
prior to commencing field work. 

67



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

13 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

Property Disturbance: Terracon will take reasonable efforts to reduce damage to 
the property as a result of the exploration activities. However, in the normal course 
of the work some such disturbance will occur, such as rutting of the ground 
surface. No fee is  budgeted to restore the site beyond backfilling the boreholes 
and patching pavements as necessary. If there are any restrictions or special 
requirements regarding this site or exploration, Thomas & Hutton and/or the 
Owner will notify Terracon prior to the start of work. 

Excess auger cuttings will be disposed of on the site by spreading in the area of 
each exploration point. / placed in containers and left on site in a location 
designated by the client/owner. Because backfill material often settles below the 
surface after a period of time, it is noted that Terracon recommends the 
exploration points be observed periodically for signs of depressions and backfill 
them if necessary. 

 
3. Wetland Delineation / Wetland Jurisdictional Request / Permit  / Threatened & 

Endangered Species  / Buffer Variance Request (RLC) 
 
Thomas & Hutton will retain the services of Resource + Land Consultants (RLC), as 
subconsultant performing Aquatic Resources & State Waters Delineation (+/– 
1,800 acres), Threatened & Endangered Species Survey, Jurisdictional 
Determination Request/ Individual Permit Application, and Buffer Variance 
Application.  The following is a brief description of the proposed Scope of Services 
to be provided: 

 
A. Aquatic Resources & State Waters Delineation (+/– 1,800 acres): 

CONSULTANT will delineate all aquatic resources within the project area 
in accordance with the regulatory requirements of 33 CFR Part 328 
Definition of Waters of the U.S., the Corps of Engineers Wetland 
Delineation Manual; January 1987 and State Waters in accordance 
Georgia Erosion and Sedimentation Act (Act), O.C.G.A. 12–7. 
CONSULTANT will prepare a field sketch approximating the limits of our 
delineation and provide this information to the surveyor of your choice. 
CONSULTANT will locate delineated aquatic resource boundaries using 
sub–meter global positioning system (GPS) and will provide a copy of the 
data to CLIENT for preliminary planning and design purposes.  

B.  Threatened & Endangered Species Survey: CONSULTANT will review all 
available records to gather information regarding known occurrences of 
state and federally protected species listed within project vicinity. In 
addition to the records review, a thorough pedestrian survey of the entire 
site will be conducted to determine the presence and/or absence of 
habitat suitable to support listed species. CONSULTANT will prepare a 
report of findings documenting the results of the survey. If suitable habitat 
is observed within the project area and an intensive species–specific 
survey is warranted, CONSULTANT will provide a budget estimate prior to 
incurring any additional cost. CONSULTANT considers all field observations 
and report documentation to be strictly confidential. None of the 
information associated with this task will be discussed with any state or 

68



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

14 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

federal agency or provided to any state or federal agency without CLIENT 
and/or landowner authorization.  

C.  Jurisdictional Determination Request/ Individual Permit Application: 
CONSULTANT will prepare a complete request for submittal to the USACE 
seeking written verification of the limits of aquatic resources and a State 
Waters Buffer Determination Request for submittal to the Local Issuing 
Authority (LIA). If a field inspection of the delineation is requested by one 
of the reviewing regulatory agencies, CONSULTANT will accompany 
agency personnel to the subject property to provide technical support 
during field review of the delineation. CONSULTANT will also provide 
ongoing coordination and supply additional information such as maps, 
digitized wetland boundaries, etc. at the agency’s request on a case by 
case basis. 

 CONSULTANT will also prepare an Individual Permit application for 
submittal to USACE. This task includes preparation of the permit 
application, project justification, and alternatives analysis, development 
of a compensatory mitigation plan, response to comments received 
during the public notice and attendance at agency meetings as 
necessary to discuss this project and matters relating to the permit 
application. If required by USACE, the applicant must provide site 
selection criteria that will be included in the alternative analysis that is 
required as part of the 404(b)(1) guidelines. This task is subject to the 
preparation of a suitable conceptual site plan and 8.5” by 11” permit 
drawings by the applicant or the applicant’s engineer / land planner. 
Additionally, this fee does not include compensatory mitigation costs, 
which are the responsibility of the applicant.  

D.  Buffer Variance Application: If the proposed project requires impacts to 
buffered state waters, CONSULTANT will prepare and submit a Georgia 
Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division Buffer 
Variance application in accordance with the Georgia Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control Rules, 391–3–7, promulgated under the Georgia 
Erosion and Sedimentation Act (Act), O.C.G.A. 12–7. This task is subject to 
the preparation of an Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan, which is 
the responsibility of the CLIENT and/or CLIENT’s consulting engineer.  

E.  Additional Services: The scope of services listed in this proposal is specific 
to the normal and customary level of effort required to complete each 
task. If circumstances arise beyond the control of CONSULTANT, or if 
additional information, meetings, etc. are necessary at the request of the 
CLIENT or required on behalf of any regulatory agency, additional services 
will be billed on a time and expense basis. CONSULTANT proposes to 
complete additional services on a time and expense basis in accordance 
with the attached fee schedule. 

 
4. Phase I Cultural Resources Investigation (Brockington) 

 
BROCKINGTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. as Sub–Consultant shall perform the 
following: 

69



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

15 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

 
For the literature review, Brockington will identify all previously recorded cultural 
resources and investigations that have been recorded within a 1.0â€“km radius 
of the project tract. The data will primarily derive from the Georgia Natural, 
Archaeological, and Historic Resources GIS (GNAHRGIS) database. The results of 
the literature review will be summarized in a brief letter/short report. The results of 
the literature review will also be incorporated into the Phase I Cultural Resources 
Report.  
 
The Phase I Cultural Resources Survey will identify all cultural resources (i.e. 
archaeological sites and historic resources) within the area of potential effect for 
the proposed project following current (2019) Georgia Council of Professional 
Archaeologist Standards. This survey will consist of pedestrian transects with shovel 
test excavations across the entire project tract for archaeological resources, and 
an examination of the project tract and its viewshed to identify historic resources. 
Each identified resource will have a preliminary National Register of Historic Places 
(NRHP) eligibility recommendation (i.e. â€“ eligible, not eligible, 
unknown/pending additional testing) and appropriate management 
recommendations (i.e. avoidance, preservation/mitigation, clearance, etc.). The 
results of the survey will be prepared in a single technical report that will 
concurrently be submitted to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) and the 
Georgia Historic Preservation Division (HPD) for review.   
 

 
  

70



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

16 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

II. PAYMENT FOR SERVICES – MASTER AGREEMENT TASKS  
 

 For services rendered, CLIENT shall pay CONSULTANT as outlined below: 
 

General Consulting 
Meetings & Calls  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 200,000.00    
Schedules & GANT Charts  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 24,000.00    
Rezoning  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 17,500.00    
GDOT Coordination  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 60,000.00 
DRI Time & Expense – Budget  $ 7,500.00    
Wetland Permit Drawings Time & Expense – Budget  $ 35,750.00    
Buffer Variance Drawings Time & Expense – Budget  $ 18,500.00  
Adventure Coordination Time & Expense – Budget  $ 125,000.00  
Water & Sewer Coordination Time & Expense – Budget  $ 15,000.00    
Natural Gas Coordination Time & Expense – Budget  $ 500.00    
Power Coordination Time & Expense – Budget  $ 1,000.00 
Rail Spur Coordination  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 1,000.00 
 TOTAL $ 505,750.00 
 
Survey 
Boundary Survey Time & Expense – Budget $ 111,000.00  
ALTA Survey  Time & Expense – Budget $ 251,000.00  
Road Quit Claim Time & Expense – Budget $ 7,500.00 
State Property Comm Exhibits / Legals Time & Expense – Budget $ 10,000.00 
Recombination Plat Time & Expense – Budget $ 15,000.00 
Frontage Road Staking  Time & Expense – Budget $ 24,000.00 
Training Center Boundary Survey Time & Expense – Budget $ 12,000.00 
Subdivision Plat / Legals Time & Expense – Budget  $ 17,000.00  
 TOTAL $ 447,500.00 
 
Design    
Site Plan Time & Expense – Budget  $ 8,000.00 
Rough Grading Plans  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 180,000.00 
Clearing & Erosion Control Design  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 75,000.00 
 TOTAL $ 263,000.00 
 
Permitting 
Rough Grading – Walton County  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 3,500.00 
EPD – Over 50 Acres  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 12,500.00 
GSWCC – Rough Grading  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 8,000.00 
NPDES  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 3,600.00 
 TOTAL $ 27,600.00 
 
Construction 
Construction Management – Pad Grading  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 75,000.00 
Construction Meetings – Pad Grading  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 100,000.00 
Record Drawings – Pad Grading  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 10,000.00 
Pad Turnover Assistance  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 18,000.00 
  TOTAL $ 203,000.00 

71



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

17 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

Environmental Due Diligence 
Aquatic Resources & State Waters  
 Delineation (+/– 1,800 acres):   Time & Expense – Budget   $ 41,000.00 
Threatened & Endangered  
 Species Survey     Time & Expense – Budget  $ 3,000.00 
Jurisdictional Determination Request/ 
Individual Permit Application    Time & Expense – Budget   $ 125,000.00 
Buffer Variance Application   Time & Expense – Budget  $ 61,000.00 
Phase I ESA  Time & Expense – Budget $ 4,100.00 
Phase I Cultural Resource Investigation Time & Expense – Budget  $ 295,000.00 
Geotechnical (Preliminary Only)  Time & Expense – Budget $ 28,750.00 
  TOTAL $ 557,850.00 

Reimbursables         $ 9,000.00 
 
      TOTAL    $ 2,013,700.00

   
Payment for services on the basis of "Time & Expense" shall be paid in accordance with the schedule of 
charges attached hereto. 
 
PAYMENT FOR SERVICES 

  
For services rendered, CLIENT shall pay CONSULTANT as outlined in this Agreement. 

                     
Payment for services on the basis of "Time & Expense" shall be paid in accordance with the schedule of 
charges attached hereto. 
  
Project related costs for printing, reproductions, materials, and travel will be billed as reimbursable 
expenses. 
  
Projects will be billed monthly or at the completion of the work, whichever comes sooner, with payment 
due upon receipt.  Payment shall be considered overdue after forty–five (45) days from date of invoice, 
with interest charged at a monthly rate of 1.5 percent (18 percent annual rate).   
  
CONSULTANT reserves the right to suspend work hereunder or any other work to be performed by 
CONSULTANT for CLIENT or any of its affiliates under a separate agreement or agreements with 
CONSULTANT in the event of delinquent payment by CLIENT to CONSULTANT hereunder or in the event 
of delinquent payment by CLIENT or its affiliates to CONSULTANT under a separate agreement or 
agreements.  For all purposes hereof, affiliate shall mean (i) in the case of an individual, any relative of 
any person listed among the following, (ii) any officer, director, trustee, partner, manager, employee or 
holder of 5 percent or more of any class of the voting securities of or equity interest in the CLIENT; (iii) any 
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or other entity controlling, controlled by or under 
common control with the CLIENT; or (iv) any officer, director, trustee, partner, manager, employee or 
holder of 5 percent or more of the outstanding voting securities of any corporation, partnership, limited 
liability company, trust or other entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the 
CLIENT. 
  
In the event legal action is necessary to enforce the payment terms of this Agreement, the CONSULTANT 
shall be entitled to collect from the CLIENT any judgment or settlement sums due, plus reasonable 

72



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

18 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

attorneys' fees, court costs and other expenses incurred by the CONSULTANT for such collection action, 
and, in addition, the reasonable value of the CONSULTANT's time and expenses spent for such collection 
action, computed according to the CONSULTANT's prevailing fee schedule and expense policies. 
  
ASSIGNMENT 
  
Neither party to this Agreement shall transfer, sublet or assign any rights or duties under or interest in this 
Agreement, including but not limited to monies that are due or monies that may be due, without the 
prior written consent of the other party. Subcontracting to subconsultants, normally contemplated by 
the CONSULTANT as a generally accepted business practice, shall not be considered an assignment for 
purposes of this Agreement. 
  
CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
  
A. Access 
  
 CLIENT shall make provisions for the CONSULTANT to enter upon public and private lands as required 

to perform such work as surveys and inspections in development of the Project. 
  
B. CLIENT's Representative 
  
 The CLIENT shall designate in writing one person to act as CLIENT's Representative with respect to the 

work to be performed under this Agreement.  This Representative shall have complete authority to 
transmit instructions, receive information, interpret, and define CLIENT's policy and decisions, with 
respect to the product, materials, equipment, elements, and systems pertinent to the work covered 
by this Agreement.  

  
C. Fees                      
  
 The CLIENT is responsible for payment of fees associated with the project.  Such fees include permit 

review and application fees, impact fees, and capacity fees.  The CONSULTANT will notify the CLIENT 
regarding the amount of fees and timing of payment. 

  
CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
  
In providing services under this Agreement, the CONSULTANT shall perform in a manner consistent with 
that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing 
under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same or similar locality.  No other representation 
expressed or implied, and no warranty or guarantee is included or intended in the Agreement, or in any 
report, opinion, document, or otherwise. 
  
OWNERSHIP OF INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE 
  
All reports, drawings, specifications, computer files, electronic files, BIM models, field data, notes and 
other documents and instruments prepared by CONSULTANT as instruments of service shall remain the 
property of the CONSULTANT.  The CONSULTANT shall retain all common law, statutory, and other 
reserved rights, including, without limitation, the copyrights thereto.  The CONSULTANT shall retain these 
records for a period of two (2) years following their completion during which period paper copies will 
be made available to the Project CLIENT at reasonable times. 

73



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

19 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

  
 
 
ELECTRONIC FILES 
  
In accepting and utilizing any drawings, reports, and data on any form of electronic media generated 
and furnished by the CONSULTANT, the CLIENT agrees that all such electronic files are instruments of 
service of the CONSULTANT, who shall be deemed the author, and shall retain all common law, statutory 
law and other rights, without limitation, including copyrights. 
  
The CLIENT agrees not to reuse these electronic files, in whole or in part, for any purpose other than for 
the Project.  The CLIENT agrees not to transfer these electronic files to others without the prior written 
consent of the CONSULTANT.  The CLIENT further agrees to waive all claims against the CONSULTANT 
resulting in any way from any unauthorized changes to or reuse of the electronic files for any other 
project by anyone other than the CONSULTANT. 
  
The CLIENT is aware that differences may exist between the electronic files delivered and the printed 
hard–copy construction documents.  In the event of a conflict between the signed construction 
documents prepared by the CONSULTANT and electronic files, the signed or sealed hard–copy 
construction documents shall govern. 
  
In addition, the CLIENT agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless the 
CONSULTANT, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, CONSULTANT) against 
all damages, liabilities, or costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and defense costs, arising from any 
changes made by anyone other than the CONSULTANT or from any reuse of the electronic files without 
the prior written consent of the CONSULTANT. 
  
Under no circumstances shall delivery of electronic files for use by the CLIENT be deemed a sale by the 
CONSULTANT, and the CONSULTANT makes no warranties, either express or implied, of merchantability 
and fitness for any particular purpose.  In no event shall the CONSULTANT be liable for indirect or 
consequential damages as a result of the CLIENT's use or reuse of the electronic files. 
   
CERTIFICATIONS, GUARANTEES, AND WARRANTIES 
  
The CONSULTANT shall not be required to sign any documents, no matter by whom requested, that 
would result in the CONSULTANT's having to certify, guarantee or warrant the existence of conditions 
whose existence the CONSULTANT cannot ascertain or any way might, in the sole judgment of the 
CONSULTANT, increase the CONSULTANT's contractual or legal obligations or risks, or adversely affect 
the availability or cost of its professional or general liability insurance.  The CLIENT also agrees not to 
make resolution of any dispute with the CONSULTANT or payment of any amount due to the 
CONSULTANT in any way contingent upon the CONSULTANT's signing any such certification. 
  
ACCESSIBILITY 
  
The CLIENT acknowledges that the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), Fair 
Housing Act (FHA) and other federal, state, and local accessibility laws, rules, codes, ordinances and 
regulations will be subject to various and possibly contradictory interpretations.  The CONSULTANT, 
therefore, will use its reasonable professional efforts and judgment to interpret applicable accessibility 
requirements in effect as of the date of [the execution of this Agreement, submission to building 

74



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

20 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

authorities, or other appropriate date] and as they apply to the Project.  The CONSULTANT, however, 
cannot and does not warrant or guarantee that the CLIENT's Project will comply with all interpretations 
of the accessibility requirements and/or the requirements of other federal, state, and local laws, rules, 
codes, ordinances, and regulations as they apply to the Project.  Any changes in the applicable law or 
contrary interpretations of existing law subsequent to the issues of permits which requires CONSULTANT 
to perform redesign will be considered an additional service.   
  
SUBSTITUTIONS 
  
Upon the written request or direction of CLIENT, CONSULTANT shall evaluate and advise CLIENT with 
respect to proposed or requested changes in materials, products, or equipment.  CONSULTANT shall be 
entitled to rely on the accuracy and completeness of the information provided in conjunction with the 
requested substitution.  CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for errors, omissions, or inconsistencies in 
information by others or in any way resulting from incorporating such substitution into the Project.  CLIENT 
shall be invoiced for this service on a Time & Expense basis unless both parties mutually agree on a lump 
sum fee. 
  
OPINIONS OF PROBABLE COSTS 
  
Since the CONSULTANT has no control over the cost of labor, materials, or equipment, or over the 
Contractor's methods of determining prices, or over competitive bidding or market conditions, his 
opinions of probable construction costs provided for herein are to be made on the basis of his 
experience and qualifications.  These opinions represent his best judgment as a design professional 
familiar with the construction industry. 
  
However, the CONSULTANT cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or the construction 
cost will not vary from opinions of probable construction costs prepared by him. 
  
BETTERMENT 
  
If, due to the CONSULTANT's negligence, a required item or component of the Project is omitted from 
the CONSULTANT's construction documents, the CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for paying the 
cost required to add such item or component to the extent that such item or component would have 
been required and included in the original construction documents.  In no event will the CONSULTANT 
be responsible for any cost or expense that provides betterment, upgrades, or enhances the value of 
the Project. 
  
 CHANGED CONDITIONS 
  
If, during the term of this Agreement, circumstances or conditions that were not originally contemplated 
by or known to the CONSULTANT are revealed, to the extent that they affect the scope of services, 
compensation, schedule, allocation of risks or other material terms of this Agreement, the CONSULTANT 
may call for renegotiation of appropriate portions of this Agreement. The CONSULTANT shall notify the 
CLIENT of the changed conditions necessitating renegotiation, and the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT 
shall promptly and in good faith enter into renegotiation of this Agreement to address the changed 
conditions. If terms cannot be agreed to, the parties agree that either party has the absolute right to 
terminate this Agreement in accordance with the Termination provision hereof. 
  
CODE COMPLIANCE 

75



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

21 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

  
The CONSULTANT shall exercise usual and customary professional care in its efforts to comply with 
applicable laws, codes and regulations in effect as of the date of this agreement was written. Design 
changes made necessary by newly enacted laws, codes and regulations after this date shall entitle the 
CONSULTANT to a reasonable adjustment in the schedule and additional compensation in accordance 
with the Additional Services provisions of this Agreement. 
  
In the event of a conflict between laws, codes and regulations of various governmental entities having 
jurisdiction over this Project, the CONSULTANT shall notify the CLIENT of the nature and impact of such 
conflict. The CLIENT agrees to cooperate and work with the CONSULTANT in an effort to resolve this 
conflict. 
  
VALUE ENGINEERING 
  
(If) CLIENT has elected to engage in value engineering of the Project, CLIENT has established cost as a 
primary project objective over other programming, performance, and aesthetic objectives and 
recognizes that in doing so, it has limited the available design and product options.  These limitations 
may impact the overall project cost, schedule, and performance.  CLIENT has accepted these risks and 
impacts in recognition of the importance it has placed on project cost. 
  
DELEGATED DESIGN 
  
Where any design services are provided by persons or entities not under CONSULTANT's direct control, 
CONSULTANT's role shall be limited to its evaluation of the general conformance with the design intent 
and the interface with CONSULTANT's design and portion of the project.  Except to the extent, it is 
actually aware of a deficiency, error, or omission in such design by others, CONSULTANT shall have no 
responsibility for such design and may rely upon its adequacy, accuracy, and completeness in all 
respects. 
  
LIMITS OF LIABILITY 
  
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship with or a cause of action in 
favor of a third party against either the CLIENT or the CONSULTANT.  The CONSULTANT's services under 
this Agreement are being performed solely for the CLIENT's benefit, and no other party or entity shall 
have any claim against the CONSULTANT because of this Agreement or the performance or 
nonperformance of services hereunder.  The CLIENT and CONSULTANT agree to require a similar 
provision in all contracts with contractors, subcontractors, subconsultants, vendors, and other entities 
involved in this Project to carry out the intent of this provision. Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, no contracts with third parties which are in place as of the date of execution of this Revised 
Agreement are required to be amended regardless of their compliance with this provision 
  
To the fullest extent permitted by law, and not withstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the 
total liability, in the aggregate, of the CONSULTANT and the CONSULTANT's officers, directors, partners, 
employees and sub–consultants, and any of them, to the CLIENT and anyone claiming by or through 
the CLIENT (including, but not limited to construction contractors & subcontractors), for any and all 
claims, losses, costs or damages, including attorneys' fees and costs and expert–witness fees and costs 
of any nature whatsoever or claims expenses resulting from or in any way related to the Project or the 
Agreement from any cause or causes shall not exceed $ 1,000,000 or the CONSULTANT’s fee for services 
rendered under this contract, whichever is greater.  This limitation shall be for all services provided under 

76



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

22 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

this agreement including all amendments, change orders, or addenda. It is intended that this limitation 
apply to any and all liability or cause of action however alleged or arising, unless otherwise prohibited 
by law.  This liability cap may be increased by mutual consent of both parties and in exchange for 
additional compensation.  
  
 
TIME BAR TO LEGAL ACTION 
  
All legal actions by either party against the other arising out of or in any way connected with this 
Agreement or the services to be performed hereunder shall be barred and under no circumstances 
shall any such legal action be initiated by either party after six (6) years from the date of Substantial 
Completion, unless this Agreement shall be terminated earlier, in which case the date of termination of 
this Agreement shall be the date on which such period shall commence.  Nothing in this Agreement is 
construed to waive any protections granted under existing laws of the state in which the work is 
performed.   
  
ACTS OF OTHERS 
  
The CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 
procedures of construction selected by Contractor(s) or the safety precautions and programs incident 
to the work of Contractor(s).  CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for the failure of Contractor(s) to 
perform the work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
  
The CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any Contractor, or sub–contractor, 
or any of the Contractor(s)', or sub–contractors' agents, or employees or any other persons (except 
CONSULTANT's own employees and agents) at the site or otherwise performing any of the Contractor(s)' 
work.  However, nothing contained herein shall be construed to release CONSULTANT from liability for 
failure to perform properly the duties undertaken by CONSULTANT in the Contract Documents. 

  
The CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for the acts, omissions, means, methods, or specifications of 
other design professionals not directly retained by CONSULTANT.  The CLIENT/Architect/Contractor is 
responsible for compliance with codes, regulations, manufacturer specifications, and construction 
methods related to the building structure.  In no circumstance is the CONSULTANT responsible for any 
portion of the building, especially as it relates to moisture or mold. 

  
INDEMNIFICATION 
  
The CONSULTANT agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless the 
CLIENT, its officers, directors and employees (collectively, CLIENT) against all damages, liabilities or costs, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees and defense costs, to the extent caused by the CONSULTANT's 
negligent performance of professional services under this Agreement and that of its subconsultants or 
anyone for whom the CONSULTANT is legally liable. 
  
The CLIENT agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless the 
CONSULTANT, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants (collectively, CONSULTANT) against 
all damages, liabilities, or costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and defense costs, to the extent 
caused by the CLIENT's negligent acts in connection with the Project and the acts of its contractors, 
subcontractors or consultants or anyone for whom the CLIENT is legally liable. 
  

77



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

23 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

Neither the CLIENT nor the CONSULTANT shall be obligated to indemnify the other party in any manner 
whatsoever for the other party's own negligence or for the negligence of others. 
  
 
 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES 
  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by law, neither 
the CLIENT nor the CONSULTANT, their respective officers, directors, partners, employees, contractors or 
subconsultants shall be liable to the other or shall make any claim for any incidental, indirect or 
consequential damages arising out of or connected in any way to the Project or to this Agreement. This 
mutual waiver of consequential damages shall include, but is not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss 
of business, loss of income, loss of reputation and any other consequential damages that either party 
may have incurred from any cause of action including negligence, strict liability, breach of contract 
and breach of strict or implied warranty. Both the CLIENT and the CONSULTANT shall require similar 
waivers of consequential damages protecting all the entities or persons named herein in all contracts 
and subcontracts with others involved in this project. 
  
DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
  
Any dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be determined as follows: 
CONSULTANT and CLIENT will negotiate in good faith to reach agreement. If negotiations are 
unsuccessful, CONSULTANT and CLIENT agree the dispute shall be settled by mediation. In the event the 
dispute or any issues remain unresolved after the above steps, the disagreement shall be decided by 
such remedies of law as they are available to the parties. The appointment of a mediator and location 
will be subject to agreement between CONSULTANT and CLIENT with each party being responsible for 
their portion of those costs.  
  
JOBSITE SAFETY 
  
Neither the professional activities of the CONSULTANT, nor the presence of the CONSULTANT or its 
employees and subconsultants at a construction/project site, shall impose any duty on the 
CONSULTANT, nor relieve the General Contractor of its obligations, duties and responsibilities including, 
but not limited to, construction means, methods, sequence, techniques or procedures necessary for 
performing, superintending and coordinating the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
and any health or safety precautions required by any regulatory agencies. The CONSULTANT and its 
personnel have no authority to exercise any control over any construction contractor or its employees 
in connection with their work or any health or safety programs or procedures.  The CLIENT agrees that 
the General Contractor shall be solely responsible for jobsite and worker safety and warrants that this 
intent shall be carried out in the CLIENT's contract with the General Contractor.  The CLIENT also agrees 
that the General Contractor shall defend and indemnify the CLIENT, the CONSULTANT and the 
CONSULTANT's subconsultants.  The CLIENT also agrees that the CLIENT, the CONSULTANT, and the 
CONSULTANT's subconsultants shall be made additional insureds under the General Contractor's policies 
of general liability insurance. 
  
DELAYS 

The CLIENT agrees that the CONSULTANT is not responsible for damages arising directly or indirectly from 
any delays for causes beyond the CONSULTANTS's control. For purposes of this Agreement, such causes 

78



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

24 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

include, but are not limited to, strikes or other labor disputes; severe weather disruptions or other natural 
disasters or acts of God; fires, riots, war or other emergencies; failure of any government agency to act 
in timely manner; failure of performance by the CLIENT or the CLIENT’S contractors or consultants; or 
discovery of any hazardous substances or differing site conditions. 
  
In addition, if the delays resulting from any such causes increase the cost or time required by the 
CONSULTANT to perform its services in an orderly and efficient manner, the CONSULTANT shall be entitled 
to a reasonable adjustment in schedule and compensation. 
  
HAZARDOUS MATERIAL 
  
Both parties acknowledge that the CONSULTANT's scope of services does not include any services 
related to the presence of any hazardous or toxic materials and/or mold.  In the event the CONSULTANT 
or any other person or entity involved in the project encounters any hazardous or toxic materials and/or 
mold, or should it become known to the CONSULTANT that such materials may be present on or about 
the jobsite or any adjacent areas that may affect the performance of the CONSULTANT's services, the 
CONSULTANT may, at its sole option and without liability for consequential or any other damages, 
suspend performance of its services under this Agreement until the CLIENT retains appropriate qualified 
consultants and/or contractors to identify and abate or remove the hazardous or toxic materials and 
warrants that the jobsite is in full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. 
  
CLIMATE CHANGE 
  
In no event shall the CONSULTANT be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of 
its obligations or impact to the project in any way hereunder arising out of or caused by, directly or 
indirectly, climate change, including but not limited to sea level rise. 
  
APPLICATIONS FOR PERMITS AND CERTIFICATES REQUESTED ON BEHALF OF CLIENT 
  
The CLIENT shall indemnify and hold the CONSULTANT harmless from and against any and all judgments, 
losses, damages, and expenses (including attorney fees and defense costs) arising from or related to 
claims by third parties to challenge the issuance of permits or certificates for the Project by agencies 
with jurisdiction in the premises.  Defense costs shall include the time and expenses of the CONSULTANT’s 
personnel to assist in the defense of the issuance of the permit or certificate. 
  
TERMINATION 
  
In the event of termination of this Agreement by either party, the CLIENT shall within fifteen (15) calendar 
days of termination pay the CONSULTANT for all services rendered and all reimbursable costs incurred 
by the CONSULTANT up to the date of termination, in accordance with the payment provisions of this 
Agreement. 
  
Either party may terminate this Agreement for the convenience and without cause upon giving the 
other party not less than fifteen (15) calendar days' written notice. 
  
Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause upon giving the other party not less than seven (7) 
calendar day’s written notice for any of the following reasons: 
  

79



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 27, 2023 
 

 
_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS 

25 OF 26 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 
  
 C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER AGREEMENT - TH 

DRAFT RESPONSE TO JDA COMMENTS (002).DOCXZ:\26900\26900.0001\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\OWNER AGREEMENT\REVISED JDA PROJECT ADVENTURE - MASTER 

AGREEMENT.DOCX 

 

 Substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement 
and through no fault of the terminating party; 

 Assignment of this Agreement or transfer of the Project by either party to any other entity without 
the prior written consent of the other party; 

 Suspension of the Project or the CONSULTANT's services by the CLIENT for more than ninety (90) 
calendar days, consecutive or in the aggregate; 

 Material changes in the conditions under which this Agreement was entered into, the Scope of 
Services or the nature of the Project, and the failure of the parties to reach agreement on the 
compensation and schedule adjustments necessitated by such changes. 

   
In the event of any termination that is not the fault of the CONSULTANT, the CLIENT shall pay the 
CONSULTANT, in addition to payment for services rendered and reimbursable costs incurred, for all 
expenses reasonably incurred by the CONSULTANT in connection with the orderly termination of this 
Agreement, including but not limited to demobilization, reassignment of personnel, associated 
overhead costs and all other expenses directly resulting from the termination. 
  
SIGNAGE 
  
CLIENT agrees to allow CONSULTANT to place a sign on the job site during construction.  The sign will 
include general information relative to the CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT shall be responsible for the sign 
installation and removal. 
  
AMENDMENT 
  
This Agreement for Services can be amended by addenda if agreed to in writing and signed by both 
parties. 
 
 
APPROVED:      APPROVED: 
 
THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO.  JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, 

NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
 
 
 
By:              By:                                                    
    
 
 
Title: Vice President, Regional Director    Title:                                                 
   
 
 
Date: June 20, 2023       Date:          

80



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND  
JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
SERVICES CONTRACT NO. 2022 – 01 JUNE 20, 2023 

_______ Client’s Initials 
 

_______ Consultant’s Initials 

                                       
 

 

81



JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
RIVIAN – PROJECT ADVENTURE SITE WORK 

SOCIAL CIRCLE, WALTON COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 

ADDENDUM #1 
 
ADDENDUM #  #1   DATE  June 27, 2023  

PROJECT:  RIVIAN – PROJECT ADVENTURE 
 
JDA of JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON AND WALTON COUNTIES (Owner) and THOMAS & HUTTON  
(Consultant or Thomas & Hutton) this 27th day of June, 2023, amend their Amended and Restated 
Master Services Contract for work, materials or services through this Addendum #1 which 
amendment shall apply in full force and effect retroactively to Consultant’s first involvement with 
the Project, except with respect to the rates Consultant charged to Client for services before 
execution of this Addendum, which are hereby ratified by the Parties hereto as full payment for 
such services.   
SCOPE OF WORK: 

 
Thomas & Hutton will provide additional consulting services for the Rivian site located in Social 
Circle, Walton County, Georgia which were not covered in the Master Contract. 
 
Thomas & Hutton will oversee Terracon Consultants, Inc., as subconsultant performing 
environmental tasks.  The following is a brief description of the proposed Scope of Services to be 
provided: 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL DUE DILIGENCE  

A.  Asbestos Survey 

 Asbestos survey in accordance with the USEPA regulation 40 CFR Part 61 Subpart 
M, the Asbestos National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP). 

 Toxicity Characteristic Leachate Procedure (TCLP) for lead (Pb) content.  

GEC will mobilize one or more AHERA or state licensed asbestos building inspectors to 
conduct an asbestos survey as required by United States Environmental Protection Agency 
(USEPA) regulation 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 61, the asbestos National 
Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) and applicable state and local 
regulations. GEC also understands that the intent of the assessment is to assist the client 
with communicating the presence, location, and quantity of asbestos-containing material 
(ACM) to employees, vendors, and contractors working in the building in order to meet 
the requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 
communication of hazard requirements found at 29 CFR 1926.1101. GEC will conduct a 
visual assessment of the building to identify materials suspected of containing asbestos 
(suspect ACM) such as thermal system insulation, surfacing materials, and miscellaneous 
materials (e.g., floor tiles). Suspect materials will be physically assessed for friability and 
evidence of damage or degradation. Samples of suspect asbestos-containing materials 
(ACM) will be collected for laboratory analysis. Bulk sample collection will be conducted 
in general accordance with the sampling protocols outlined in USEPA 40 CFR Part 763 
Subpart E 763.86, known as AHERA.  

82



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 
 

_______ OWNER’S INITIALS  
  PAGE 2 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS  
C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED ADDENDUM#1 - ADDITIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL LSI UST ASBESTOS - 

TH COMMENTS TO JDA RESPONSE.DOCX 

Survey activities will include visual observations of the interior and exterior of the buildings 
to identify homogeneous areas of suspect ACM.  

Building materials identified as glass, wood, masonry, metal, or rubber are not considered 
suspect ACM.  

To the extent reasonable, GEC will limit sampling to locations that are discrete. Sample 
collection will result in some isolated damage to building materials; however, attempts will 
be made to limit such damage to the extent necessary for sample collection. Some 
materials cannot be sampled without significant damage to the finish or function of a 
material including ceramic tile adhesives or mortar beds and roofing. Destructive material 
sampling will not be conducted without prior client approval. Materials that cannot be 
discretely sampled will be recorded and quantified like other suspect materials but will be 
assumed to contain asbestos. GEC will not be responsible for repair or touch-up of sample 
locations.  

Reasonable efforts to access suspect materials within known areas of restricted access 
(e.g., crawlspaces) will be made provided these areas are not determined to be permit-
required confined spaces, or to pose a health or safety risk to GEC personnel.  Sampling 
will not include suspect materials which cannot be safely reached with available 
ladders/man-lifts.   

Roofing materials will be sampled during this survey. The Client agrees to defend and hold 
GEC harmless from subsequent liability and damages that may result from the Client-
requested roof sampling. GEC will apply temporary patching to roof sample locations, but 
it is recommended that a roofing contractor be retained by the client to repair areas 
damaged by the Client-requested roof sampling.   

The number of samples collected will depend on the number of homogeneous materials 
identified. Current USEPA regulations require that a minimum number of samples from 
each homogeneous area be obtained in order to characterize a material as non-ACM. 
Please note that the estimated number of samples takes into consideration applicable 
sampling requirements for the collection of multiple samples from each homogenous area 
of suspect ACM present.  

The samples collected will be analyzed for asbestos content by Polarized Light Microscopy 
(PLM), using the EPA’s preferred “Method for the Determination of Asbestos in Bulk Building 
Materials” (USEPA Method 600/R-93/116) at a laboratory accredited by the National 
Voluntary Laboratory Accreditation Program (NVLAP). The percent of asbestos, where 
applicable, will be determined by microscopic visual estimation.   

If PLM results (less than 1% asbestos) merit re-analysis by point counting in accordance with 
the NESHAP regulation or if loose fill insulation is found, GEC will contact the client for 
authorization if additional costs will be incurred.  Without additional analysis, the material(s) 
may be assumed to contain asbestos. 

If conditions are encountered in the course of our work that will significantly impact the 
scope described herein, or if potentially hazardous conditions are encountered, you will 
be contacted immediately so that an appropriate course of action may be decided 
upon. The scope of work described in this proposal assumes conditions that will not require 
respiratory protection, or other personnel protection above OSHA Level D.

 

 

83



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
Page 3 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

84



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
Page 4 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Project Schedule 

  It is anticipated that the work will take 45 business days to complete. 

 

B.  LSI – Residential Structures 

Project Adventure – Residential Property Information 

Scope of work includes performance of a Limited Site Investigation (LSI) at site of the 
proposed Rivian development.  Terracon is aware that the site, which is comprised of 
approximately 1,650-acres, consists of predominately wooded land with some 
cleared/pasture area and access trails. Several small residential structures, a farm pond, 
creek, mobile homes, chicken houses and ponds, and other farm structures are present 
on the site.   

85



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
Page 5 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

Based upon the results of the Phase I ESA, recognized environmental conditions (RECs) 
were identified, due to the past and present use of underground storage tanks (USTs) on 
the site near the chicken coops in the eastern portion of the site, as well as the two ponds 
adjacent to the chicken houses.    

Terracon was informed that two USTs (diesel and gasoline) are in the noted area.  The size, 
age, and amount of product remaining in the tanks are unknown. To accurately 
determine the degree to which the operational history of the fueling tanks has resulted in 
any surface or below-ground release would require sampling and analysis of the soils 
and/or groundwater in the vicinity of the system tanks and lines.    

The use of the two ponds adjacent to the chicken houses is a concern due to the washing 
out of the houses and chicken feces and other waste being washed into the ponds.   

Therefore, we recommend that a Limited Site Investigation (LSI) be performed at the site 
to assess whether soil and/or groundwater at the site has been adversely impacted by the 
current use of the USTs and the two ponds.  Two sampling points are proposed at each 
location.     

 

Ground Penetrating Radar 

Terracon recommends using Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR), in order to screen the 
location of any proposed subsurface sampling locations. The GPR survey will attempt to 
locate any near surface underground tanks, associated product line piping as well as near 
surface underground utilities in the area of our drilling and to try and evaluate the size of 
the UST pit.    

Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) data will be collected utilizing a Geophysical Survey 
Systems Incorporated (GSSI) Utility Scan 350 MHz Antenna. GPR is a non-invasive survey 
and produces real-time subsurface imaging and is comprised of three main components: 
control unit, antenna, and power supply. GPR technology works by sending a pulse of 
energy into a material through a transmitter antenna and recording the strength and time 
required for the return of any reflected signal through a receiver antenna. Reflections are 
produced when the energy pulse enters through a material.  

Intrusive sampling  

Based upon the results of the Phase I ESA, Terracon proposes to advance four soil borings 
to groundwater at the site.  Following completion, the aforementioned soil borings will be 
converted to temporary monitor wells in order to facilitate groundwater sampling.   

A drill rig and/or geoprobe will be mobilized to the site to advance the soil borings. Soil 
samples will be collected utilizing direct push and/or split-spoon samplers during the boring 
activities.  Terracon anticipates collection of relatively undisturbed soil samples at 
approximately five-foot intervals.   

Once the sampling is complete, each borehole with be filled with the soil cuttings. Any 
auger cuttings from drilling activities remaining will be left on-site. The Terracon personnel 
performing the scope of work will have proper 40-Hour Hazardous Waste Operator training 
required by environmental regulations. As noted previously, the Utilities Protection Center 
will be contacted regarding the locating and marking of utilities on the property prior to 
any subsurface activities.  Additionally, GPR will be utilized to clear the proposed soil boring 
locations.   

The four temporary monitoring wells will be installed to the first occurrence of groundwater, 
which we estimate to be a depth of approximately 20-feet (bgs). Terracon environmental 

86



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
Page 6 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

personnel will determine the location of the borings based on site conditions such as 
staining, topography, access, and underground utilities.    

• Soil Sampling:  During the installation of the borings, soil samples will be collected 
from each boring. This will allow the on-site personnel to visually observe the 
subsurface lithology and any subsurface staining that could be indicative of 
environmental impacts. The collected soil samples will be screened with an organic 
vapor detector or photoionization detector. Selected soil samples, based on field 
screening, will be collected for submittal to the analytical laboratory.  If no signs of 
contamination are observed, the soil sample at the bottom (above the 
groundwater table) of each of the “UST” borings will be collected for analysis. 

• Groundwater Sampling:  Four temporary groundwater monitoring wells will be 
installed, and the groundwater will be sampled (if encountered).  Groundwater will 
be tested for the same constituents as the soil samples. If groundwater is not 
encountered within 40-feet of the ground surface, groundwater samples will not 
be collected.    

• The soil and groundwater samples for the UST area sampling will be submitted for 
analysis of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes (BTEX), polyaromatic 
hydrocarbons (PAHs), total petroleum hydrocarbon diesel range organics (TPH-
DRO), and total petroleum hydrocarbon gasoline range organics (TPH-GRO). 

• The groundwater samples collected from the area below the two ponds will be 
tested for Nitrates, Nitrites, and Phosphorus, as well as tested in the field for pH, 
Dissolved oxygen, and other parameters. 

Laboratory Analysis 

The groundwater and soil samples will be shipped overnight to an accredited third-party 
laboratory for analysis on a standard turnaround time.  All sampling will be conducted in 
accordance with protocols intended to obviate the potential for cross-contamination; 
sampling equipment will be thoroughly decontaminated prior to use, and the appropriate 
documentation will be maintained. Samples will be packaged in laboratory-provided 
containers with preservative appropriate to the analytical methods to be used, and 
shipped overnight via priority carrier, along with the appropriate Chain-of-Custody 
documentation.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

87



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
Page 7 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

C.  Limited Site Investigation (LSI) – Unity Gas Station 

Sub-Consultant shall perform Limited Site Investigation (LSI) to evaluate the potential for 
site contamination from an adjacent Unity gas station located at 1808 Highway 278, 
adjacent to the north portion of the subject site. 

LSI is to be performed at the site to assess whether soil and/or groundwater at the site has 
been adversely impacted by the current use of the adjacent USTs and petroleum usage 
at the site. Two sampling points are proposed to evaluate this concern. 

 

Intrusive Sampling 

Terracon proposes to advance two soil borings to groundwater (or auger refusal) at the 
site. Following completion, the aforementioned soil borings will be converted to temporary 
monitor wells in order to facilitate groundwater sampling. 

A drill rig and/or geoprobe will be mobilized to the site to advance the soil borings. Soil 
samples will be collected utilizing direct push and/or split-spoon samplers during the boring 
activities. Terracon anticipates collection of relatively undisturbed soil samples at 
approximately five-foot intervals. 

Once the sampling is complete, each borehole with be filled with soil cuttings. Any auger 
cuttings from drilling activities remaining will be left on-site. The Terracon personnel 
performing the scope of 

work will have proper 40-Hour Hazardous Waste Operator training required by 
environmental regulations. As noted previously, the Utilities Protection Center will be 
contacted regarding the locating and marking of utilities on the property prior to any 
subsurface activities. 

The two temporary monitoring wells will be installed to the first occurrence of groundwater, 
which we estimate to be a depth of approximately 20 to 30 feet (bgs). Terracon 
environmental personnel will determine the location of the borings based on site 
conditions such as the location of the adjacent USTs and dispensers, topography, access, 
and underground utilities. 

 Soil Sampling: During the installation of the borings, soil samples will be collected 
from each boring. This will allow the on-site personnel to visually observe the 
subsurface lithology and any subsurface staining that could be indicative of 
environmental impacts. The collected soil samples will be screened with an organic 
vapor detector or photoionization detector. Selected soil samples, based on field 
screening, will be collected for submittal to the analytical laboratory. If no signs of 
contamination are observed, the soil sample at the bottom (above the 
groundwater table) of each of the borings will be collected for analysis. 

 Groundwater Sampling: Two temporary groundwater monitoring wells will be 
installed and the groundwater will be sampled (if encountered). Groundwater will 
be tested for the same constituents as the soil samples. If groundwater is not 
encountered within 40-feet of the ground surface (or prior to auger refusal), 
groundwater samples will not be collected. 

 The soil and groundwater will be submitted for analysis of Volatile and Semi-Volatile 
organic compounds (VOCs and SVOCs). 

 

 

88



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
Page 8 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

Laboratory Analysis 

The groundwater and soil samples will be shipped overnight to an accredited third-
party laboratory for analysis on a standard turnaround time. All sampling will be 
conducted in accordance with protocols intended to obviate the potential for 
cross-contamination; sampling equipment will be thoroughly decontaminated 
prior to use, and the appropriate documentation will be maintained. Samples will 
be packaged in laboratory-provided containers with preservatives appropriate to 
the analytical methods to be used, and shipped overnight via priority carrier, along 
with the appropriate Chain-of-Custody documentation. 

If conditions are encountered in the course of our work that will significantly impact 
the scope described herein, or if potentially hazardous conditions are 
encountered, you will be contacted immediately so that an appropriate course of 
action may be decided upon. The scope of work described in this proposal 
assumes conditions that will not require respiratory protection, or other personnel 
protection above OSHA Level D. 

protection, or other personnel protection above OSHA Level D. 

 
 D.  UST Removal / Closure Permitting     

The Georgia EPD requires that out of serviced USTs need to be properly removed, 
with testing below the level of the tanks performed to document the condition of 
the soil below the tanks. The size of the tanks are unknown; therefore, we anticipate 
that two soil samples will need to be collected from below each tank. In addition, 
one (1) sample will also need to be collected for any excavated stockpiled soil. 
Since the contents of the tank are unknown, the samples must be analyzed for 
benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and toluene (BTEX); polynuclear aromatic 
hydrocarbons (PAHs); and total petroleum hydrocarbons- gasoline & diesel 
organics (TPH-GRO & DRO). Following receipt of the laboratory analytical results, 
GEC will prepare the UST Closure Report and Certification report and provide 
further recommendations regarding the site. 

There are no EPD requirements for removal of stained soils, but GEC will collect 
samples below the level of the stained soil for confirmatory testing. 

GEC proposes to provide the professional services required to meet the EPD 
requirements. This will include tank removal (subcontracted to First Environmental), 
soil sampling and analysis, as well as the preparation of a closure report and/or 
further recommendations relative to the project. 

A Terracon staff professional will be on-site to collect samples from below the level 
of each tank. Soil samples obtained in the field will be screened for the presence 
of organic vapors using a photo-ionization detector (PID). The PID readings provide 
a general indication of soil contamination and are useful in selecting samples for 
analysis and guiding field activities. The samples will be sent overnight to a certified 
laboratory for analytical testing. 

Once the analytical results from the laboratory are received, GEC, with assistance 
from the client, will prepare a closure report for the site. The following cost estimate 
does not include any additional stockpiling or over-excavation activities (i.e. 
monitoring or soil sampling) due to contamination. If significant contamination is 
encountered, GEC will advise you on appropriate actions to be taken. 

 
 

89



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 
 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
 Page 9 
_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

 

1. Mobilize equipment and personnel to 4990 Davis Academy Road located 
in Rutledge, GA. Personnel to include experienced and qualified 
supervision, heavy equipment operator, and technician. Equipment 
includes medium-tracked excavator, pressure washer, cutting torch, and 
support truck. 

2. Remove liquid contents from (2) UST’s. Vac liquid into FEN-Supplied Liquid 
Vacuum Truck for transport and disposal. 

3. Remediate client specified impacted soils and contain in FEN-Supplied 
Open Top Box for future transport and disposal. 

 4. Perform UST removal operations for (2) unknown sizes of UST’s. Tanks will be 
rinsed to remove residual sediments. Rinse water will be placed into 55-
gallon steel drums for T&D. 

5. Torch cut tank ends for preparation and transport to recycling facility. 
6. Backfill tanks voids with 57 stone and/or crusher run. 
7. Confirm a completed and satisfactory project with Client. Obtain Client 

sign- off. 
8. Clean work area. Demobilize. 

 
Special Inspection Oversight, Project Management / Coordination, Report Review 

Engineer and Sub–consultant will review reports of field tests and observations and submit 
reports requested by the Owner and Design Team.  Consultant and Subconsultant will also 
prepare a Final Report of Special Inspections following the last required inspection and 
resolution of outstanding discrepancies. 

 

E. FEES 

 Based on the scope information provided and assumptions noted, we propose to provide 
the services described herein as follows: 

  Fee or Time &  
Phase Fee Structure Expense Budget  

 
 Asbestos Survey: Time & Expense – Budget  $ 35,937.50 
 LSI – Residential: Time & Expense – Budget  $ 11,356.25 
 LSI – Unity Gas Station: Time & Expense – Budget  $ 12,075.00 
 UST Removal:  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 82,910.98 
  
The above fee arrangements are on the basis of prompt payment of our invoices and the orderly 
and continuous progress of the services through completion.   
 
 
Any requests for specific construction observation services and agreed to by the CONSULTANT will be paid 
as Additional Services by the OWNER. 

 
APPROVED:      APPROVED: 
 
THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO.  JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND  
      WALTON COUNTIES  
 
 
By:             By:      

90



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 
 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
 Page 10 
_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental LSI UST Asbestos - TH comments to JDA response.docx 

 

 
 
Title:         Title:     
 
 
Date:         Date:     
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

91



_______ Owner’s Initials  
1 of 5 

_______ Consultant’s Initials  

JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
RIVIAN – PROJECT ADVENTURE SITE WORK 

SOCIAL CIRCLE, WALTON COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 

ADDENDUM #2 
 
ADDENDUM #  #2   DATE  June 27, 2023  

PROJECT:  RIVIAN – PROJECT ADVENTURE 
 
JDA of JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON AND WALTON COUNTIES (Owner) and THOMAS & HUTTON  
(Consultant or Thomas & Hutton) this 27th__day of __June_, 2023, amend their Amended and 
Restated Master Services Contract for work, materials or services through this Addendum #2. 
SCOPE OF WORK: 

 
Thomas & Hutton will provide additional consulting services for the Rivian site located in Social 
Circle, Walton County, Georgia which were not covered in the Master Contract. 
 
Thomas & Hutton will provide planning and design and construction administration services to add 
on additional approximately 60 acres of disturbance to provide an approximately 90 acre pad to 
the project per Rivian direction.  The following is a brief description of the proposed Scope of 
Services to be provided: 
 
A. RIVIAN ROUGH GRADING – 90 ACRES PLUS PAD 

1. General Consulting / Meetings and Calls 
 
 Consultant shall assist Client during the project with meetings with development 

team, meeting with government officials, company officials, and any other 
requests not defined that may occur during the project. Services shall be provided 
on a Time and Expense basis. 

 
2. Site Plan / Calculate Limits: 

 
 Consultant shall work with Rivian to determine limits of grading based on budget 

defined.  Cost estimates will be generated on alternatives to establish budget limits.   
 
3. Rough Grading Plans 

 
 After Owner approval of the Limits Plan, the Consultant shall prepare construction 

documents for design of rough pad grading plans to match the plan as agreed 
upon.  The site development plans will include: 
 
 Drainage – Any additional stormwater ponds or expansion of existing will be 

considered. 
 Design Calculations to accommodate plan. 
 Erosion Control – for rough grading. 
 Construction Details – grading, pond drainage, and erosion control. 
 Quantity Takeoff, including cut and fill calculations for earthwork. 

92



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 002  JUNE 27, 2023 
 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
2 of 5 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#2 
to Master Contract - TH Comments to JDA response (002).docx 

 

 Technical specifications for clearing, and earthwork,  
 Design calculations – pond storm drainage 
 

4. Soil Erosion and Sediment Control Plans 

Consultant shall prepare an erosion, sedimentation, and pollution control plan 
(ES&PC Plan) for the project following the State of Georgia Manual for Erosion, 
Sedimentation, and Pollution Control (Green Book) guidelines including best 
management practices (BMP’s) to reduce the release of sediment from with limits 
of disturbance of the project.  ES&PC Plans will include storm drainage measures 
needed to meet the applicable stormwater runoff and sediment storage 
requirements for the disturbed areas.  The site plan will include multiple drainage 
basins and grading area due to the size of the disturbed area.  The design will be 
prepared in accordance with latest addition of Green Book as of the date of this 
Agreement.   
 
Consultant, through sub–consultant Terracon, will provide inspection and 
monitoring of the ES&PC Plan BMP’s and stormwater outfalls following the 
requirements of the NPDES permit.  Consultant will revise and update the ES&PC 
plans as needed following the recommendations of Terracon when additional 
BMPs are needed.  
 
These tasks will be performed on time and expense basis. 

5. Permitting 

Per Owner’s instruction, the project is not subject to local permitting by law, but it 
has requested that Walton County review plans and oversee compliance. 
Consultant shall assist Owner with the preparation of submittal packages for the 
development approval for rough grading and soil erosion sediment control to 
Walton County.  The payment of fees associated with the application process is 
the responsibility of the Owner.  Consultant shall submit final plans and 
specifications to the applicable local, state, and federal agencies for review.  
Agency submittals anticipated for this project include: 
 
 Walton County – For information only. 
 GA EPD 
 NOI 
 
Submittal fees are not included in our fee schedule and shall be provided by the 
Owner at the time of submittal.  Consultant will assist Owner in obtaining 
construction permits for the project.  This phase includes revising plans and 
specifications according to agency comments and if requested, meeting with the 
agencies on behalf of the Owner. 

 
  6.  Pricing with Plateau 

  Consultant shall work with Plateau to determine full scope and pricing in  order       
 to process change order through original JDA Contract for this work. 

 
 
 

93



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 002  JUNE 27, 2023 
 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
3 of 5 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#2 
to Master Contract - TH Comments to JDA response (002).docx 

 

 
 
 

7. Construction Phase Services 

During the course of construction, the Consultant will provide the following services: 
 

 Review material data, shop drawings, and construction schedules 
provided by the Contractor. 

 Provide construction management assistance to coordinate with the 
Owner’s Contractor and to ascertain that the work is in substantial 
conformance with the contract documents and with the design intent. 

 Attend final field inspections by regulating agencies for the project. 
 Review record drawings provided by Contractor. 
 Request project acceptance by applicable agencies. 
 Construction Observation. 
 Construction Site Visits 
 Pad Turnover Assistance 
 Pad Grading Survey Analysis 
 Establish Additional Vertical Survey Control for Contractor 

 
Construction phase services do not include observation, exhaustive or continuous 
on–site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Contractor's work.  
However, it does include visits to the project site at intervals appropriate to the 
various stages of construction to review general compliance with approved plans 
and specifications.  Such visits shall not require Consultant to assume responsibilities 
for the means and methods of construction, nor for safety measures or conditions 
on the job site.  Both parties understand that the Contractor has notification 
requirements at specific intervals of the construction process.  Consultant does not 
provide accessibility construction compliance verification.  This service can be 
provided at the request of the Owner with specific scopes and fees. 
  
The Consultant provides construction services as defined above for the work 
designed by the Consultant.  Other construction work that may occur on site is the 
responsibility of other design professionals or the Owner and expressly not the 
responsibility of the Consultant. 

 
8. Construction Meetings  

 
During the course of construction, Consultant will attend construction meetings at 
the site or at a location near the site or virtual meetings. 

 
9. Pad Turnover  
 

Based on program established with Rivian, Consultant shall prepare pad turnover 
package to include final survey of pad, density reports by Terracon and any other 
pertinent information to release pad are to Rivian. 

 

 

 

94



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 002  JUNE 27, 2023 
 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
4 of 5 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#2 
to Master Contract - TH Comments to JDA response (002).docx 

 

 

 

B. FEES 

 Based on the scope information provided and assumptions noted, we propose to provide 
the services described herein as follows: 

  Fee or Time &  
Phase  Fee Structure Expense Budget  

 
 General Consulting:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 20,000.00 
 Site Plan / Calculate Limits:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 15,000.00 
 Rough Grading Plans:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 60,000.00 
 Soil Erosion Control Plans:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 35,000.00 
 Permitting:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 10,000.00 
 Pricing with Plateau:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 10,000.00 
 Construction Management:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 25,000.00 
 Construction Meetings:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 15,000.00 
 Pad Turnover:  Time & Expense – Budget    $ 5,000.00 
 Reimbursables:  Time & Expense – Budget  $       2,500.00 
   TOTAL $ 197,500.00 
 

The above fee arrangements are on the basis of prompt payment of our invoices and the 
orderly and continuous progress of the services through completion.   
 
**  The fee for providing onsite testing will be covered under a separate contract. 

 
 

 
 

Any requests for specific construction observation services and agreed to by the CONSULTANT will 
be paid as Additional Services by the OWNER. 

 
APPROVED:      APPROVED: 
 
THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO.  JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND  
      WALTON COUNTIES  
 
 
By:             By:      
 
 
Title:         Title:     
 
 
Date:         Date:     
 
 

 
 
 

95



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 002  JUNE 27, 2023 
 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
5 of 5 

_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#2 
to Master Contract - TH Comments to JDA response (002).docx 

 

 
 
 
 
 

96



 
_______ OWNER’S INITIALS  

PAGE 1 
_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS     C:\USERS\OWNER\APPDATA\LOCAL\MICROSOFT\WINDOWS\INETCACHE\CONTENT.OUTLOOK\D5ZLTXXQ\REVISED ADDENDUM#1 - ADDITIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL 

TESTING ON 90 ACRES - JOC 8-16-23 COMMENTS TO JDA RESPONSE.DOCX 

JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES 
RIVIAN – PROJECT ADVENTURE  

SPECIAL INSPECTION AND 
MATERIAL TESTING SERVICES 

SOCIAL CIRCLE, WALTON COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 

ADDENDUM #1 
 
ADDENDUM #  #1   DATE  June 27, 2023  

PROJECT:  RIVIAN – PROJECT ADVENTURE 
 
JDA of JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON AND WALTON COUNTIES (Owner) and THOMAS & HUTTON  
(Consultant or Thomas & Hutton) this _27th_day of __June________, 2023, amend their September 
25, 2022 Letter Agreement for work, materials or services related to Rivian Special Inspection and 
Materials Testing Services (AGREEMENT) through this Addendum #1.   
SCOPE OF WORK: 

 
Thomas & Hutton will provide additional consulting services for the Rivian site located in Social 
Circle, Walton County, Georgia which were not covered in the Master Contract. 
 
Thomas & Hutton will oversee Terracon Consultants, Inc., as subconsultant performing special 
inspections and material testing services on the additional 90 – 120 acres added to the project. 
 
The following is the proposed Scope of Services to be provided: 
 

SPECIAL INSPECTION AND MATERIAL TESTING SERVICES 

A. Soils / Utility Backfill 

Services below will pertain to the building and backfilling of utility trenches and similar 
excavations: 

1.  Observe proof rolling and assess subgrades in initial fill and backfill areas. 
2.  Obtain bulk samples of proposed fill and backfill. 
3.  Perform standard Proctor test on bulk soil samples; other classification tests if 

needed. 
4.  Observe fill/backfill placement (continuous in structural areas), verify material type 

and lift thickness, perform density/moisture content tests. 
5.  Engineering consultation/visits to provide technical support at critical stages 

and/or to address soil–related problems that may arise, including potential 
unsuitable soils. 

6.  Document/quantify unsuitable soils, if encountered. 
7.  Assist with the placement of settlement plates and review the settlement data 

received. 
 
This scope shall replace in its entirety Section A of the Agreement.  

 

97



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
 Page 2 
_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental Testing on 90 Acres - JOC 8-16-23 Comments to JDA response.docx 

 

B. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Services 

The scope of services is based on our knowledge of the NPDES General Permit No. GAR 
100001 (“the Permit”, effective September 23, 2018) and review of the available project 
information. In accordance with the Permit, sites with one acre or greater soil disturbance 
are required to be in compliance with the Permits, including inspecting and testing. 

Storm water sampling will be conducted from the initial ½–inch rain event after clearing 
and grubbing is completed. Sampling will also be conducted during a ½–inch rain event 
no later than 90 days after the initial sampling or during the first ½–inch event after 
completion of mass earthwork, whichever occurs first. If the sampling results exceed the 
benchmarks in the Permits, as identified in the ESPC plan, the Permits require that storm 
water runoff from each ½–inch rain event be sampled and analyzed again until the Permit 
benchmarks are met. 

Weekly and post–rainfall observation of the site BMPs will be performed by a GSWCC Level 
1B from Terracon. Terracon will perform post–rainfall inspections the day following 
qualifying ½–inch rainfall events. Qualifying events will be determined based on 24–hour 
rainfall accumulation as directed by the contractor for qualifying events.  Thomas & Hutton 
will review the Terracon reports and field conditions.  Where Terracon sampling results 
exceed the benchmark, Thomas & Hutton will review the ES&PC plans to consider and/or 
recommend changes to the plan to improve the performance of measures.   

A copy of the field report will be provided to the designated Permittee representative on 
the site (usually the contractor). The report provides a listing of Permit and BMP–related 
items, a written explanation of issues and recommended corrective actions, if any. A 
typed copy will also be prepared and issued to parties designated by you. 

Other duties will include collecting and transporting storm water runoff samples, laboratory 
analysis of samples for turbidity, and installing, maintaining, and removing the samplers. An 
Engineer/Geologist will review reports and test data and prepare a monthly report for 
submittal to the EPD during calendar months when samples are collected and tested. This 
scope shall replace in its entirety Section B of the Agreement.  

 

C. Special Inspection Coordination, Project Management Coordination, Report Review 

Engineer and Sub–consultant will review reports of field tests and observations and submit 
reports requested by the Owner and Design Team.  Consultant and Subconsultant will also 
prepare a Final Report of Special Inspections following the last required inspection and 
resolution of outstanding discrepancies.  This scope shall replace in its entirety Section C of 
the Agreement.  

 
D. FEES 

 Based on the scope information provided and assumptions noted, we propose to provide 
the services described herein as follows: 

  Fee or Time &  
Phase Fee Structure Expense Budget  

 
 Miscellaneous Consulting: Time & Expense – Budget $ 8,500.00 
 Soils / Utility Backfill: Time & Expense – Budget  $ 100,000.00 
 NPDES Services: Time & Expense – Budget  $ 18,000.00 
 Special Inspections and Materials Testing Oversight,  
  Report Review/Coordination,  

98



THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. AND JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND WALTON COUNTIES  
ADDENDUM NO. 1  JUNE 27, 2023 
 

_______ Owner’s Initials  
 Page 3 
_______ Consultant’s Initials C:\Users\Owner\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\D5ZLTXXQ\Revised Addendum#1 - 
Additional Environmental Testing on 90 Acres - JOC 8-16-23 Comments to JDA response.docx 

 

  Meetings:  Time & Expense – Budget  $ 15,000.00 
 
The fees above will be added to those included in the Agreement. 
  

The above fee arrangements are on the basis of prompt payment of our invoices and the orderly 
and continuous progress of the services through completion.   
 
 
Any requests for specific construction observation services and agreed to by the CONSULTANT will be paid 
as Additional Services by the OWNER. 

 
APPROVED:      APPROVED: 
 
THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO.  JDA OF JASPER, MORGAN, NEWTON, AND  
      WALTON COUNTIES  
 
 
By:             By:      
 
 
Title:         Title:     
 
 
Date:         Date:     
 
 

 
  

99



1 

 

RESOLUTION OF  

THE JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

JASPER COUNTY, MORGAN COUNTY, 

NEWTON COUNTY AND WALTON COUNTY 

Re: INSURANCE 
 

 

 WHEREAS, the Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, Newton 

County and Walton County, hereinafter the “Authority”, was duly formed under the Development 

Authorities Law, O.C.G.A. §36-62-1 et seq.; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Authority and the Georgia Department of Economic Development 

(“GDED”) have partnered to recruit Rivian Horizon, Inc. (“Rivian”) to construct an electric vehicle 

manufacturing facility on approximately 1,978 acres in the Stanton Springs North development 

park located in Morgan and Walton Counties (the “Project”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Project provides substantial public benefits to the region by generating 

7,500 jobs and a $5,000,000,000 investment; and   

 

 WHEREAS, the Authority, GDED and Rivian entered into an Economic Development 

Agreement (“EDA”) which includes the incentives and obligations of the parties; and   

 

 WHEREAS, under the EDA, the Authority will undertake certain land acquisition, due 

diligence and site preparation work; and   

 

 WHEREAS, the Authority contracted with Plateau Excavation to grade the Project site 

which grading is ongoing; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Authority desires to acquire additional liability insurance coverage; and  

 

 WHEREAS, GDED has agreed that liability insurance related to the grading work is an 

appropriate use of REBA grant funds.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the Authority, 

as follows: 

 

1. The Authority hereby authorizes the Chairman and Secretary to execute the necessary 

documentation to obtain a liability insurance policy with limits between $3 and $5 

million and to pay the premium for said policy in an amount not to exceed $170,000 

using REBA grant funds subject to final approval of said amount and policy by GDED.  

GDED, the State of Georgia, and Rivian or any agreed upon affiliate 

corporation/company held by Rivian shall be named as additional insureds.   

100



2 

 

 

 

 

 SO RESOLVED this _____ day of __________________, 2023. 

 

  

 

The Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, 

 Newton County and Walton County 

 

 

 

 By: _____________________________ 

 Jerry Silvio, Chairman 

 

 

 

 

 Attest: __________________________ 

  Bob Hughes, Secretary    

 

 

 

 

101




